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Say no more than How will it be with me? for however it be thou wilt settle it well, and the issue shall be fortunate . . . if a great boar appear, thou wilt fight the greater fight; if evil men, thou wilt clear the earth of them. But if I die thus? Thou wilt die a good man, in the accomplishing of a noble deed. 

EPICTETUS

I am tired and sick of war. Its glory is all moonshine. . .War is Hell.

GENERAL WILLIAM TECUMSEH SHERMAN





INTRODUCTION


Wars do not end when the fighting stops, and military victory in itself is no guarantor of peace. The wounded continue to die. The dispossessed still seek a place to call home. Parents search for lost children among the ruins, and families and friends try desperately to reunite. Soldiers of the defeated forces face weeks, months and even years interned in prisoner-of-war camps often far distant from home. The victors do not suddenly turn their swords into plowshares. They hunt down enemy leaders, confront those who wish to continue the fight, and wrestle hard to establish law and order. Only then can peace come. For this requires more than the absence of conflict, and is harder to build than battering cities to rubble.


Histories of the Second World War in Europe invariably end with the surrender of German armies and the celebration of VE (Victory in Europe) Day on Tuesday, 8 May 1945 (or 9 May in the former Soviet Union). From a military perspective alone this is misleading, because fighting continued in some places well past that date. Yet even where conflict ceased, allied soldiers did not suddenly fling aside their weapons, celebrate wildly, and return home. On the contrary, for most of them, VE Day was merely a brief pause in the continuing and exhausting experience of being in uniform and under arms. Thanks to Adolf Hitler’s manic vision, Europe in 1945 was a disaster zone, and the aftermath of war proved as demanding as battle itself.


It required the surrender of millions of enemy soldiers; the urgent quashing of looting, rioting and random violence; the robust and often severe restoration of law and order; the reestablishment of basic services such as electricity, gas, water and sewerage; the restoration of smashed roads, railways and telephone systems; the quest for the proceeds of the large-scale looting of European gold and art treasures; and, not least, the search for Nazi and Fascist leaders fleeing retribution and justice. The participants did not stop writing their diaries or letters home, and neither did they consider that their war was over; for one thing, those directly involved in the fighting expected to be transferred to the Far East to finish the conflict against the still-undefeated Japanese.


Nor did the fighting become less bitter as liberation dawned. Indeed, the final weeks of the war saw some of the cruelest moments of all, providing a terrible climax to a conflict already marked by brutality and death on a scale unprecedented in human history. Since D-Day in June 1944, allied armies had suffered a sequence of bitter setbacks that continually postponed the day of victory. When they finally entered the German heartland, Hitler made it clear that he would fight on to the bitter end. Referring to the armistice sought by Germany at the end of the First World War, he firmly told the Wehrmacht in his proclamation on “Heroes’ Memorial Day”–11 March 1945–that “the year 1918 will not repeat itself.” To rule this out, no price, not even destruction, was too high. A week later, he issued his so-called Nero Order. Nothing was to be kept for the enemy to use: mines were to be blown up, canals blocked, telecommunications wrecked, and Germany’s cultural heritage destroyed.


Josef Goebbels, Hitler’s propaganda minister, expressed the same chilling nihilism more pithily: “If we have to leave the scene,” he wrote in typically theatrical fashion, “we’ll shut the door so tight that no other government will ever open it again.” What all this meant was that allied soldiers could expect a remorseless fight to the death.1


As for civilians, liberation often marked the beginning and not the end of their tribulations, a bittersweet moment of exhilaration and despair. It was only with the overrunning of concentration camps such as Buchenwald, Belsen and Dachau in April 1945 that the full scale of Nazi atrocities became apparent to Western eyes. For the survivors, the trauma of returning home was just the start of a painful process of readaptation to normal life. While, for the thousands of Jews who discovered that they had no homes or families to go back to, the struggle now began in earnest to build their own new state of Israel. For civilians who had not been transported to the camps–the vast majority of Europeans–VE Day was little more than a moment of brief relief in a life of continuing hardship and daily struggle.


This was also a time of retribution and revenge. The Second World War precipitated the climax of two decades of ethnic rivalry and ideological conflict, and almost everywhere society trembled on the brink of civil war or serious disorder. The end of the fighting permitted the winners to vent their rage on those of their opponents who had collaborated with the enemy. This presented the liberating armies with another urgent problem in the wake of their hard-won triumphs.


It was only after the fighting stopped, moreover, that help could reach the millions of people transported and enslaved by the Nazis in their insatiable search for labor to run the war economy of the Third Reich. For the first time, the army of relief workers who descended on Europe were able truly to appreciate the full scale and depth of the human misery involved. They also confronted a vast new wave of refugees, some fleeing westwards ahead of Stalin’s armies, others deliberately uprooted from their homes in Central and Eastern Europe because they were ethnically German. This, the largest forced migration of peoples in European history, took little notice of the celebrations of VE Day and it, too, threatened a new round of instability and conflict.


Even in unoccupied Britain, a political tremor was about to throw the nation’s triumphant war leader, Winston Churchill, out of office. In the United States, the inexperienced new president, Harry Truman, struggled hard to master the complexities of the international power game for which he had been ill-prepared by his predecessor, Franklin D. Roosevelt. It is scarce wonder that historians have described the end of the war in Europe as little more than a “semblance of peace,” as a “poisoned peace,” or most recently as a case of “no simple victory.”2


In Britain and the United States, the story of the Second World War is invariably told through its military campaigns. This is understandable. Neither country was occupied, and apart from British civilians affected by the German bombing of their cities, the war was most directly experienced by those who took part in the campaigns in Northwest Europe and Italy and the Far East. But the history of war is too important to be left to military historians alone, and in Europe the conflict had its greatest and most devastating impact on civilians. For most of them, it was not an affair of movement and battle but “a daily degradation, in the course of which men and women were betrayed and humiliated, forced into daily acts of petty crime and self-abasement, in which everyone lost something and many lost everything.”


More than one recent historian has reminded us of this, and of the fact that for half the continent the peace that came in 1945 was that “of the prison yard, enforced by the tank.”3 How the might of the Red Army smashed westwards to capture the great capitals of Central and Eastern Europe such as Berlin, Vienna, Prague and Budapest, and what this meant for their post-war life, is a story that has been told in a legion of books. It provides all the more reason to be thankful that the continent’s other great capitals, such as Paris, Rome and Brussels, were liberated by the Western liberal democracies of Britain and the United States–and that London was never occupied at all. Without that, the history of Europe would have taken a radically different and far more dismal turn.


This is why I deal here with the final weeks of the war and its immediate aftermath in that half of Europe liberated by the Western allies. I make no attempt to offer a comprehensive account but rather a portrait, a partial glimpse of the complex tapestry that was Europe during the endgame of Hitler’s war.


Behind and amid all great events lie individuals, their experiences and their actions, and it is only through understanding these that we can fully grasp the larger picture. Historical events, noted the exiled German author and historical journalist Sebastian Haffner in his brilliant memoir of life in Germany during Hitler’s rise to power, have varying degrees of intensity. Some barely impinge on true reality–which means the central, most personal parts of an individual’s life–while others wreak havoc and leave nothing standing. Only through reading biographies, especially the all too rare ones of unknown individuals, can we appreciate this. “There,” writes Haffner, “you will see that one historical event passes over the private (real) lives of people like a cloud over a lake. Nothing stirs, there is only a fleeting shadow. Another event whips up the lake as if in a thunderstorm. For a while it is scarcely recognizable. A third may, perhaps, drain the lake completely.”4


This explains the approach I have taken here: to present the interwoven narratives of a handful of individuals caught up in the end-of-war storm that engulfed the lives of millions, based on their letters, diaries, memoirs and personal testimonies. The cast includes women as well as men, civilians as well as soldiers, and people of several nationalities. I have chosen them because of the intrinsic interest of their individual stories, the ways in which they illuminate the broader themes I have mentioned, and the light they cast on some particular dimension of the war.


They include a German mother held prisoner by the SS and brutally separated from her two sons; a young British commando who reaches the Baltic coast, only to witness the aftermath of the horrendous and tragic accidental death of thousands of concentration camp victims; an equally youthful American soldier fighting in Italy who tries desperately to overcome his fear of death and preserve his idealism amid the horrors of battle; a middle-aged war correspondent traveling with George S. Patton’s Third US Army into southern Germany who descends deep into a salt mine to see for himself the hidden gold reserves of Germany and piles of art looted by the Nazis; a Canadian officer who gets caught up in a bitter, last-ditch battle in Holland; a German-Jewish exile fighting as a British secret agent behind the lines in Austria; a New Zealand intelligence officer whose campaign in Italy ends in confrontation with the communists in the disputed city of Trieste; an American paratrooper whose war against the Nazis elides seamlessly into a struggle against the Russians in Berlin; and a woman with long experience of refugee work helping liberated slave laborers and concentration camp victims in Bavaria.


The narrative begins on Friday, 20 April 1945. This is Hitler’s birthday, when the Nazi dictator, trapped in his Berlin bunker, makes it clear that he will fight on to the bitter end and die there if necessary. It ends on Monday, 16 July 1945, when Churchill and Truman arrive in the ruins of the Nazi capital for the Potsdam Conference, the last of the wartime “Big Three” meetings. They make a tour of the devastated city and Churchill, after walking through the rubble-strewn marbled halls of Hitler’s once magnificent Chancellery, wanders into the garden to gaze on the very spot where the dictator’s body was burned after he killed himself. After several moments, he turns away in disgust. That same morning, thousands of miles away in the deserts of New Mexico, the world’s first atomic bomb is successfully tested. Japan’s fate is now sealed and the Pacific War, too, is effectively over.


Yet what peace means is far from clear. Some of the characters are exhausted but feel they have done a good and necessary job. One or two retain a battered idealism. Others are simply happy to have survived. At least one feels disillusioned, and another finds herself lost and bereft. All have experienced or witnessed the horrors of war. Each is anxious about the future and what it holds for them personally. No one can see the future for themselves, or for the world. What will happen in Germany? Is there any chance that democracy can take root? Will it be overwhelmed by the catastrophic influx of millions of refugees? Will Nazism return? Indeed, is it even certain that Adolf Hitler is dead? Will civil war break out at any minute in Italy? Will the country fracture into two parts, the north and the south? Will its monarchy survive? And what about relations with the Soviet Union? Can peace be built with Stalin? Or must it be constructed without or even against him?


When the clock stops on this narrative in mid-summer 1945, none of the answers to these questions is obvious. It is starkly apparent that a necessary victory has been won, but also that it has not yet delivered a peace. Indeed, it has created new problems for those who survive. Only one thing is certain: the war, for all its dreadful cost, has prevented Hitler and the Nazis from making an imperfect world into an even worse one. That, by any measure, makes it worthwhile.


I have many thanks to give to those who helped make this book possible. My first debt of gratitude is to those whose stories I tell here, some of whom are still alive and who generously agreed to meet with me, discuss their experiences of six decades ago and help me in various other ways, ranging from providing documents, letters and photographs to putting thoughts to paper in response to my questions. I thank them all: in Rome, Fey von Hassell, along with her son-in-law David Forbes Watt; in Hamburg, Fred Warner, who sadly has since died, and his wife, Annette; in Victoria, British Columbia, Canada, Reg Roy; in Gloucestershire, Sir Geoffrey Cox CBE; and in Suffolk, Bryan Samain and his wife, Helen. Leonard Linton of New York kindly agreed to assist me in telling his story but died before we were able to meet; I am grateful to his daughter Sandy for seeing me there and for answering questions and providing photographs. In London, Elizabeth Horder kindly talked to me about her aunt, Francesca Wilson, and lent me portions of her diary; while in York, Rosalind Priestman, another of Francesca’s nieces, guided me to sources about the Quakers and lent me the photograph of her aunt that appears here. Heather Aggins and Russell Enoch also talked to me about their memories of Francesca. To my friend and colleague in Edinburgh, Jeremy Crang, I owe a special thanks for letting me delve freely into the hitherto unexplored papers of his grandfather Robert Reid; while to Robert’s daughter Elizabeth I am grateful for further insights into her father’s wartime family life.


As ever, I am indebted to many expert and hardworking archivists and librarians, invariably underpaid and overworked, who make all historical research possible. The chief librarian at the Alexander Turnbull Library in Wellington, New Zealand, kindly gave me permission to draw on the papers of Sir Geoffrey Cox, and I am grateful to Peter Cooke for finding the relevant material for me. Also in New Zealand, Dolores Ho of the Queen Elizabeth II Army Museum in Waiouru provided me with further material about Sir Geoffrey Cox as well as photographs by G. Kaye from the photographic collection of the Kippenberger Military Archive. In the Netherlands, Dr. Hans de Vries, of the Information and Documentation Department of the Netherlands Institute for War Documentation in Amsterdam pointed me in the right direction at the start of my researches into wartime Holland; while Monique Brinks, of the Groningen Archiv and curator of the April 2005 exhibition “From Me to May: The First Year after the War in Groningen,” kindly found time from her hectic exhibition schedule to talk about the days surrounding the liberation of the city. Local historian Franz Lenselink generously drove me around the Delfzijl area to explore the terrain, gave me a copy of his invaluable pamphlet on the town during the war, and shared his observations about the battle fought there in 1945 by the Cape Breton Highlanders.


At the Imperial War Museum in London Rod Bailey helped me with the Walter Freud Papers, while Stephanie Clarke assisted me in gaining access to the papers of Sigismund Payne Best, along with the generous permission of his widow, Bridget Payne Best. In the United States, Professor Emeritus John Imbrie, veteran and Vice-President of Data Acquisition and Analysis of the Tenth Mountain Division Association, provided me with much valuable material about the division’s wartime operations, answered many of my queries, and made valuable suggestions. Debbie Gemar and Dennis Hagen, of the Tenth Mountain Division Resource Center at the Denver Public Library, Colorado, sent me copies of the morning reports of the Tenth Mountain Division 85th Regiment Company F, April–July 1945, as well as photographs.


At the Defence Intelligence Museum at Chicksands, Bedfordshire, Major Alan Edwards OBE gave me enormous help during the initial stages of my research and helped me discover Fred Warner’s unpublished account of his SOE mission to Austria. In Berlin, Dr. Helmut Trotnow OBE, Director of the Allied Museum, first drew my attention to Leonard Linton’s unpublished memoirs. Sebastian Cox, head of the Royal Air Force Historical Branch at Bentley Priory, Stanmore, provided me with material about the Cap Arcona affair and discussed this tragic event with me. Dr. Yves Tremblay, of the Directorate of History and Heritage at National Defence Headquarters in Ottawa, Canada, helped with inquiries about Canadian forces in Holland. The late Sydney Hudson kindly let me consult his useful collection of press cuttings made by his father during the war.


I wish also to acknowledge the generous help given by various staff members at the National Library of Scotland, the Liddell Hart Centre for Military Archives at King’s College, London, as well as Ian Martin, archivist at the King’s Own Scottish Borderers’ Regimental Headquarters in Berwick-upon-Tweed and Dr. Diana Henderson of the Scots at War Trust. As when I was writing Ten Days to D-Day, the staff at the Naples branch of the Collier County Library in southern Florida provided an unfailingly excellent service.


I have also benefited from discussions with friends and colleagues in many places. To Professor Terry Copp of Wilfrid Laurier University in Kitchener, Ontario, I am, as ever, indebted for providing material from his own extensive researches on the Second World War that helped me significantly in the early stages of my work. David Ellwood of Bologna University was, as always, generous with his knowledge and contacts, and put me in touch with Professor Giampaolo Valdevit of the University of Trieste, with whom I had an illuminating discussion in Trieste about the complex politics of the city in 1945. John Earle, also of Trieste, was similarly helpful, as was John Shillidy, who wrote to me about his work with British military intelligence there at the end of the war. Lt.-Col. Roderick Mackenzie, formerly of the 178 (Lowland) Medium Regiment RA, sent me the relevant chapter of his memoirs of experiences fighting in support of the Tenth Mountain Division as well as an article by the late Lt.-Col. Hugh Freeth DSO, Silver Star, the regiment’s commanding officer. Dr. F. Akkerman of Haren wrote to me about the fighting for Groningen and the capture of the bridge at Oosterhoogebrug that was crucial to the Canadian advance on Delfzijl. Dr. Coen Tamse and Dr. Homme Wedman of Groningen University provided welcome hospitality in the city and filled in some useful details.


Others who helped at various stages along the way include Martin Clark, Richard Aldrich, Tim Naftali, Tony Hepburn, Alastair C. Duke, Bob Steers, Hayden Peake, Ian McGibbon, Dr. Rob Rabel, Fred Judge, A. Struan Robertson, Mark Seaman, Tessa Stirling, Gill Bennett, Mary Mackie, Beth Slavin, Betty Thomas, Gerry Brent, Seamus Spark, Frank Bright, Madeleine Haag, Tony Williams, Sidney Goldberg of the Normandy Veterans Association, Angus McIntosh, Adrian Gilbert, David Storrie, Matthew Parker, Sandy Gordon, Christopher Woods, Duncan Stuart, Andrew Jeffrey, Tim Carroll, Grant McIntyre, Ian D. Armour, Slawka Mieczyslawa, Joanna Potts, Marion Milne, Dolores Hatch, Jack Granatstein, Christopher Woods, Tom Wales and Sir Tommy Macpherson. My colleagues at the Centre for the Study of the Two World Wars and in the Department of History at the University of Edinburgh, Paul Addison, Jenny Macleod, James McMillan, Jill Stephenson, Donald Bloxham and Pauline Maclean, all helped provide the friendly and supportive working environment every writer needs.


To my agent in London, Andrew Lownie, I am deeply grateful for making the project possible in the first place, and to my editors at Little, Brown in London and New York, Richard Beswick and Liz Nagle respectively, I am profoundly indebted and thankful for their incisive comments, valuable insights, welcome suggestions and unfailing support. To Iain Hunt, Rowan Cope, Bobby Nayyar and Philip Parr, who also helped bring the project to fruition in London, I am very grateful.


Finally, to my wife, Jeanne Cannizzo, editor of first resort and unconditionally supportive companion, once again I can never say thank you enough.


David Stafford,
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PART ONE

FRIDAY, 20 APRIL 1945



CHAPTER ONE


CRUEL SPRING


Friday 20 April was Adolf Hitler’s birthday. Since seizing power in 1933 and making himself Führer of the German people, the anniversary had been celebrated throughout the Reich as a public holiday. Across Germany, the blood-red flag of the Nazi Party, with its crooked black swastika, had festooned private balconies and public buildings alike. Radio broadcasts had played special music and adulatory speeches, schoolchildren had enjoyed the day off, and at his Bavarian home at Obersalzberg outside Berchtesgaden Hitler had smiled paternally as blonde young girls presented him with posies of alpine flowers.


But today, as he turned fifty-six, the mood was distinctly unfestive. Josef Goebbels, the Führer’s fervently loyal minister of propaganda, tried to make the best of it all amid the mood of impending disaster. The German people, he announced that morning on the radio, should trust their leader to the bitter end. For this, Hitler himself was now making grim preparation. For weeks he had been in Berlin, living an underground existence in his neon-lit bunker deep below the Chancellery. It consisted of eighteen cramped rooms with a special suite that he shared with his mistress, Eva Braun.


Today, as elsewhere across Europe, it was a sunny spring day in the German capital and the lilacs were in bloom. But throughout the city housewives were desperately stocking up with food in preparation for the battle that everyone knew was coming. Overhead, the once vaunted and feared Luftwaffe was reduced to an impotent weapon, and American and British heavy bombers had been hitting the capital with impunity for months. Only the week before, they had sent the Foreign Ministry and the old Reich Chancellery itself up in flames. Now, overnight, knowing the significance of the date, they had returned for an even bigger raid, and all day the acrid smell of smoke hung heavy in the air. On the ground, Red Army forces had begun their final big offensive against the capital with two and a half million men and were rapidly approaching the eastern suburbs, threatening to surround the city completely. The thunder of heavy artillery was now audible even to those below ground.


Traditionally, the Führer was congratulated first on his birthday just after the stroke of midnight by his personal household staff. But this year he told them the situation was too somber for such ceremonies. Despite this, they persisted. Looking twenty years older than his actual age and his skin a deathly white, he trudged down the line of men and women and limply shook hands with each of them. Then, after sleeping a few hours, in the early afternoon he climbed the steps out of the bunker into the Chancellery garden to take Nazi salutes from selected army units and SS troops. About twenty teenage boys from the Hitler Youth who had been fighting against the Russians were also lined up.


Hitler was wearing his field-gray army uniform jacket with its Iron Cross, awarded for bravery during the First World War. Slowly, he walked down the line, pinching a few of the boys on the cheek and muttering words of encouragement. A newsreel camera recorded the event. Inadvertently, it also captured the violently shaking left hand that he kept firmly behind his back in an effort to conceal it, a mark of his rapid physical decline in recent months. “Here in Berlin,” Hitler told the teenagers, “we are facing the great, decisive battle . . . Our belief that we will win . . . has to remain unbroken. The situation can be compared with that of a patient believed to have reached the end. Yet he does not have to die. He can be saved with a new medication, discovered just in time to save him.”


What the miracle at this stage might be was anyone’s guess. Since the allied landings in France on D-Day the previous June, Hitler and Goebbels had constantly hinted at miracle weapons that would yet win the war, such as the V2 rocket or a new jet aircraft. The week before, it had even seemed that a political rather than a military miracle might save the Reich. Shortly before midnight on Thursday 12 April a BBC–Reuters flash had announced the sudden death of President Franklin D. Roosevelt at his private retreat in Warm Springs, Georgia.


Goebbels immediately phoned Hitler. “My Führer,” he exclaimed, “this is the miracle of the House of Brandenburg we have been waiting for. This is the turning point predicted in your horoscope!” The Minister of Propaganda was referring to a historical event well known to Hitler, with his megalomaniac habit of comparing himself to the great figures of German history. In 1762, King Frederick the Great of Prussia had been saved from defeat in the Seven Years’ War against Russia by the sudden death of Czarina Elizabeth. Hitler, who kept a portrait of Frederick in his bunker study, reacted to Goebbels’s news with delight. Soon, he told him, the Americans and the Red Army would be exchanging artillery barrages over the roof of the Chancellery.


The euphoria had been fleeting. Few of those now listening to Hitler’s promises in the garden placed much faith in his curiously defiant yet depressing message to the assembled faithful about a dying patient. Later that day, below ground again, he greeted assembled luminaries of the Reich–ministers and generals alike–who had come to give him their birthday wishes. He shook hands with each and exchanged a desultory few words. Then, the birthday ritual completed, they turned to the great decision of the day. Would Hitler stay in Berlin, or would he move south to Bavaria to lead some last-ditch resistance from his base at Berchtesgaden? This had long been the plan. Just ten days before, he had sent his servants south to prepare the way.


The decision was now urgent. The Red Army advance was so rapid and so close that it threatened to cut off all routes of escape out of the city. Worse, with the Russians advancing west, and the Americans moving rapidly east in central and southern Germany, the Reich faced being cut in two, with the route south to Bavaria being completely shut off. Everyone present argued that Hitler should quit his capital immediately. Earlier in the day, Field Marshal Wilhelm Keitel, his military chief, had urged this course, but he had been rebuffed. “Keitel,” said Hitler, “I know what I want. I will fight on in front of, within, or behind Berlin.” Now, after further discussion, he relented a little by saying that he would leave the final decision to fate.


Yet, in truth, he had already made up his mind. In March, Eva Braun had arrived in Berlin from Berchtesgaden. Then, just a week ago, she had descended from her private apartment in the Chancellery to sleep with Hitler in the bunker. Gerda Christian, his senior private secretary, knew instinctively what this meant: Hitler would never flee to Bavaria. Instead, Berchtesgaden, in the shape of Eva Braun, had come to Berlin. Hitler’s mistress was a middle-class Catholic girl from Munich. Twenty-three years his junior, she had met him in the studios of his official photographer Heinrich Hoffman, where she was working as an assistant. Whatever else might be said about her, she was loyalty supreme. She would stay at his side until the bitter end.


Gerda Christian’s guess was confirmed later that evening when Hitler, as so often, ended his day by chatting with his secretaries in his study. He always liked the company of impressionable young women, and it was to women that he often revealed his deepest feelings. They too wanted to know if he would leave Berlin. If he did, he replied, he would feel like a Tibetan lama turning an empty prayer mill. “I must,” he insisted, “bring things to a head in Berlin–or go under!”1


To all but the willfully blind, it was now obvious he would do both. Moreover, whatever he said or did in Berlin was increasingly irrelevant to the march of war throughout his beleaguered Reich and beyond.


Of all the bitter months of the war against Hitler, April 1945 was the hardest to bear. It was not just the weather, although this proved true to form, shifting treacherously between days of spring promise and the last gasps of a dying winter that fought back tenaciously with sleeting hard rain and flurries of snow that drove soldiers and civilians alike scurrying for warmth.


Nor was it the fear of allied victory slipping away at the last moment, like some perpetually distant and elusive prize. The end of Hitler’s Third Reich was now inevitable and visibly close. Hostile armies surrounded the Nazis in a tightening grip. In the flatlands of Northwest Europe British, American and Canadian armies had crossed the Rhine, the traditional guardian of Germany’s western frontier, and were pushing rapidly forward through Holland and towards the great North Sea ports of Bremen and Hamburg.


On the bountiful granary plains of eastern Germany, Stalin’s Red Army had crossed the Rivers Oder and Neisse to reach the outer suburbs of Berlin. Further south, the Soviet dictator’s forces were poised to link up with the Americans in the center of the country, and in Austria his troops had already taken Vienna. In southern Germany, American troops were driving rapidly up the Danube and deep into Bavaria, Nazism’s spiritual home, with its cities of Munich, the Nazi Party headquarters, and Nuremberg, site of the torch-lit rallies that had mesmerized the world just a few years before. In Italy, allied forces were finally poised to make their crucial breakout into the valley of the River Po with its arrow-straight roads pointing north to the Alps and the Reich beyond.


However, unbearably, despite all this, Hitler refused to surrender. Instead, his armies were fighting on with ferocious tenacity. Soldiers and civilians alike now knew that this would be a fight to the death, with all that this meant for them and for Europe. Liberation would come to millions, but at a price made painfully high because it seemed so needless. More soldiers and civilians would die. More houses would be destroyed by bomb and artillery shell. More fields and crops would be flooded by broken dams and dikes, ruining crops and tightening the grip of hunger that had already reduced millions to starvation. And more refugees would be sent on their way along desolate roads with their pathetic bundles of personal belongings slung on their backs or dragged in carts behind them. This, indeed, was a bittersweet month.


Globally, the end of the war looked no less dark. Japan, like its German ally, was battling back viciously to postpone the day of defeat. The island-hopping advance of the Americans in the Pacific had come to a bloody halt on rocky Okinawa, the last stop before the Japanese mainland. Here, 120,000 Japanese troops supported by 10,000 aircraft were making a suicidal last stand against an army of 155,000 Americans that stormed ashore on the first day of the month. Kamikaze pilots dive-bombed American warships and the Japanese Imperial Navy sent the Yamato, the largest battleship in the world, on a desperate last mission to ram as many enemy ships as it could. The battle would end eighty days later with the ritual suicide of the Japanese commander and his chief of staff, and with only 10,000 of the island’s defenders still alive. With 50,000 dead and wounded Americans, the fight for Okinawa offered a grim and worrying portent of what could still lay ahead before Japan surrendered.


Politically, too, the shadows were deepening. At his death, Roosevelt had yet to resolve the big question of how to deal with Stalin and the Soviet Union; while his successor, Harry Truman, was virtually unknown even to Americans and had little executive experience. Britain’s prime minister, Winston Churchill, was by now full of dark foreboding about Soviet intentions in Europe and was already using the term “Iron Curtain” to describe a Europe divided between communism and democracy. Poland, for whose independence Britain had gone to war in 1939, was already in the grip of the communists. Would military victory turn to dust once the killing stopped?


More than anything, Robert Ellis wanted to sleep. All night he had clambered up the ridge dodging machine-gun and mortar fire. Physically and mentally, he was drained. Now, even though it was only early spring, the harsh Italian sun was scorching his skin. He crouched deeper into his foxhole to escape its relentless glare, but the ground was baked hard and his shelter was shallow.


Earth is the friend and final resting place of the combat infantryman. There he takes cover, shelters and sleeps, but it is also what he must capture and occupy. For six straight days, Ellis, of the Tenth Mountain Division, had been fighting in the last big push by the US Fifth Army to break out of the Apennine Mountains and into the valley of the River Po.


It lay below him now, its fertile green plain stretching far into the distance, representing both promise and threat. The grueling weeks of scrambling up and down rock-strewn hillsides braving withering enemy fire were over. But the river was wide and deep, a natural barrier for the retreating yet stubborn enemy. The last week’s fighting had been the heaviest and most costly thus far for the division. Three hundred and seventy men had been killed and some fourteen hundred wounded. In Ellis’s battalion alone, almost fifty men had perished in just two days of fighting. He knew all too well that many more men would die before victory came. It still seemed far away.


He was twenty years old. Home was Wooster, Ohio, where his parents had settled after years serving as Presbyterian missionaries in the Persian city of Urumia. They had arrived in Urumia during the First World War. “It was a battleground for Turkish and Russian troops, Kurdish tribesmen, Assyrians, Armenians and other native partisans,” he wrote. “Massacres and epidemics were the order of the day. My father’s medical services as a surgeon were desperately needed.”


In 1918, his parents narrowly escaped a massacre of Christian missionaries by Muslim Kurds. Already they had two small children, both boys. A daughter followed three years later. Robert had completed the family when he was born in 1924, finally arriving in the States in the mid-1930s for more formal schooling.


Now, Ellis was heading a machine-gun squad in Company F of the division’s 85th Regiment, having recently been promoted to sergeant. He had covered his helmet with burlap to reduce the reflection and make himself less of a target to the enemy, and had decided not to wear his sergeant’s stripes on his shoulder. Like most of his buddies, he assumed the Germans made special efforts to shoot officers and NCOs to disrupt the chain of command.


There had been enough death anyway, without drawing attention to yourself. Casualties were running high and one in particular came shockingly close. On the first day of the offensive, Bill Luth, one of his oldest friends in the division, had been killed. They went back together to training days in Colorado, where they had enjoyed one fabulous weekend’s leave with a couple of other buddies in Colorado Springs, singing fraternity and popular songs as they took the breathtaking drive over the mountains in full moonlight. Bill had come from Wisconsin, and Ellis had shared with him the cake his mother had sent for his nineteenth birthday, just two days before Bill’s own.


Now, Ellis wasn’t at all sure that he himself was going to make it. “The war may seem very close to the end,” he wrote to his parents, “but to the men here who watch their comrades die each day the end is far away.” Preying vividly on his mind was the final, heart-wrenching scene in All Quiet on the Western Front, the 1930s’ film version of Erich Maria Remarque’s great anti-war bestseller about the First World War. As he waits in his foxhole on the front, the armistice signed but not yet in effect, the soldier hero reaches out to touch a butterfly that has settled on a blade of grass only to be shot dead by an enemy sniper.


No one now was keen to be killed, and self-inflicted wounds, to provide an exit from the carnage, were not unusual. The risks did not diminish because victory was close. Over the last few days Ellis’s company, along with others of the division, had advanced slowly from hilltop to hilltop through deadly, often unsuspected minefields as well as towards murderous machine-gun fire that raked the slopes as men desperately scrambled for cover. Mortar and artillery fire also caused dreadful wounds.


“Men were spun to the ground by the impact of bullets,” writes one historian of a typical Tenth Division firefight in the Apennines, “sliced open by whirling jagged shards of shrapnel, atomized by direct bursts from artillery and mortar shells, catapulted into the air from the force of explosions, or thrown to the ground in agony, screaming with pain, clutching at torn limbs or spilled intestines, at jaws and genitals that had disappeared.”2 German Schu mines, undetectable in their wooden boxes and scattered liberally over the landscape, invariably blew off their victims’ feet. In such savage and bitter fighting, where American soldiers saw friends killed or mortally wounded in terrible ways, prisoners, especially wounded ones, were sometimes simply shot. Ellis, like most young soldiers, was careful to self-censor his letters home about such matters.3


Round-the-clock marches had left him more exhausted than he had ever been before in his life. The previous day the regiment had captured the last great ridge before the Po Valley. Ahead of him he had glimpsed, on the horizon far to the northeast, the red tile roofs of Bologna. He had not slept for forty hours, but there was still no rest. At midnight his battalion started a rapid march to take control of a small town and then fought hard to capture another strategic ridge overlooking the valley. Now, as he desperately sought sleep, he was close to collapse and full of foreboding. Would he, like the soldier in the movie, die in his pathetic little foxhole at the final hour?


On this same April day, deep inside Germany, another river and its defenses confronted a young British commando, Captain Bryan Samain. His previous two years of military life had almost felt like a continuation of school. After his father died when he was only five, his almost penniless mother had sent him off to a Royal Masonic boarding school in Hertfordshire. But, unlike the other new boys, he didn’t mind being away from home. He was an only child–a younger sister had died before he even became aware of her–and he had already learned to be self-reliant. Nor did he unduly miss his mother. “In fact,” he recalled years later, “I never cried during those early, lonely days at school–even in the dormitory at night.”4


Life at the boys’ school was spartan and regimented, revolving mainly around a daily regime of sport and the weekly cadet corps, which was compulsory. “Great attention was paid to spit and polish,” he recorded, “with much green blanco being applied to webbing.” He had also learned to be a team player and to fit in. His father had been Protestant and a Freemason, but his mother was fiercely Catholic and had sent him to the school only because, as a Freemason’s son, there were no fees to pay. It meant that he was the only Roman Catholic there, but he was never bullied or taunted because hardly anyone knew about it. Instead, he camouflaged himself by attending the regular morning prayers and Sunday Church of England services like everyone else–even if, during the holidays, he went with his mother to the local Catholic church.


Home was originally in Chelmsford, Essex, but by now his mother had remarried and was moving from place to place in the Midlands, following her accountant husband in various war-related jobs. At first, after leaving school at fifteen, Bryan had fancied going on the stage, like his aunt Kit, who had played in several musicals and revues. But this youthful idea had been firmly quashed, and instead he had signed up in London as a trainee journalist. As his eighteenth birthday approached, he was working in Fleet Street for an Australian paper, the Sydney Daily Mirror.


He knew he would soon be conscripted. “Being ambitious,” he recalled, “I wanted to go for a commission rather than stay in the ranks.” He found out about the “Y” scheme of the Royal Marines, a short cut for potential officers from their volunteers, so one day he traveled to a recruiting office in Croydon, where he was interviewed by a tough-looking, leather-faced sergeant who grilled him about his school, his sporting abilities and his academic record. Above all, he was interested in the fact that Samain had passed the military-based “Certificate A” in the cadet corps. “You’ll do, lad,” he concluded.


So, on 14 January 1943, the day he turned eighteen, Bryan Samain had said goodbye to the aunts in Wimbledon with whom he had been lodging and took a train to the Royal Marines’ reception center in Devon. That had been just over two years ago, but now it felt like a lifetime away.


The day before, he had arrived in Luneberg. This picturesque medieval city, with its spas and gabled Gothic and Baroque façades, was one of the main hospital towns of Germany and was being used by the Wehrmacht for the treatment and convalescence of its wounded. It had been declared an open city and its undamaged houses provided comfortable shelter for the commandos. Like Ellis and the Americans in Italy, the British commandos were pausing for breath after a period of bitter fighting.


The term “commando” was first coined by the Boers to describe their irregular forces fighting the British in South Africa at the beginning of the century. Now, it was used for self-supporting allied units of about five hundred highly trained and mobile men. Although predominantly British, the commandos also boasted hundreds of men from the occupied countries of Europe, refugees from France, Belgium, Poland, Yugoslavia, and even Germany itself. Samain himself was conscious that his family background was French, his ancestors having been Huguenots who had fled into exile during the reign of Louis XIV. The commandos were trained to the peak of physical fitness, knew how to handle a variety of weapons and explosives, and were able to march at up to seven miles an hour for several hours.


“As expected,” wrote Samain, “the Commandos bristled with brave, larger-than-life characters–most of them volunteers, all of them keen to get to grips with the enemy. To wear the green beret of the Commandos, which I was now permitted to do, was a prized honor. To have to leave the Commandos, for whatever reason–when you were ‘Returned to Unit’ or RTU’d–was bitter personal reverse.” His own unit was part of the First Commando Brigade, advancing with Field Marshal Montgomery’s Twenty-first Army Group in northwest Germany.5


Less than a month before, they had taken part in the great allied crossing of the Rhine close to the city of Wesel. When Samain finally entered it, the town had been so thoroughly pulverized by Royal Air Force Lancaster bombers that he found the carefully prepared maps of German defensive positions virtually useless. In front of him stretched nothing but a maze of enormous craters, smashed-up landmarks and few passable roads. A British war correspondent who passed through the town at about the same time recorded,


Surely the horror of war, the sheer blanket ruthlessness of it, is shown more vividly in Wesel than in all the towns of Germany . . . there is nothing left except rubble, stinking with the dead beneath it and rotting in the hot afternoon sun . . . so great is the devastation, so great and complete the ruin, that we did not even see that most familiar sight . . . the men and women and children picking in the ruins for what they could find . . . Wesel had ceased to exist.6


As Samain and his troop advanced in single file through the ruins, he received a nasty foretaste of what was to come. Around him lay the bodies of countless Germans. All were apparently dead. But suddenly, as the marines’ commanding officer neared the corner of a street, one of the “corpses” stood up and fired a grenade launcher at point-blank range. It killed two of the commandos immediately, wounded the officer, and knocked everyone else off their feet.


Surprised, angry and fearful, the men retaliated by emptying their “Tommy” sub-machine-guns into the German. When they rolled over his corpse and looked more closely they were not surprised to find a member of the SS. To be sure nothing similar happened again, they then shot up every apparent corpse they could see. Samain would no longer take anything for granted.


His reaction was typical. There were too many stories of Germans fooling allied soldiers by playing dead to ignore, even if it meant that the Geneva Convention on the treatment of prisoners was fraying at the seams. In the ten months of grueling fighting since the Normandy landings, allied soldiers had honed their instincts for survival. In France, Polish tank crews had driven straight over retreating Germans, giving them no chance either to escape or surrender.


Enemy snipers always received short shrift too, and sometimes it took little more than an arrogant reply from a captured German to trigger a killing. When one British commando lance-corporal–not in Samain’s troop–asked a surrendering German general to put his hands up, the Wehrmacht officer answered defiantly that he would surrender only to an officer of a similar rank. Unimpressed, the lance-corporal replied: “Well, this will equalise you,” and opened fire with his Tommy gun. His only punishment was to have to dig the grave for his victim. This was what was meant by the glib phrase “the sharp end of war.”7


Such shootings were the exception, not the rule, but the willing surrender of thousands of German soldiers witnessed by Samain and the other commandos only increased their ruthlessness towards those who continued with what seemed now like futile resistance. Beyond Wesel, one British unit found itself waging a fierce firefight for the possession of a tiny village. First, allied artillery pounded it into rubble, then the infantry moved in. They were met by concentrated machine-gun fire from the basement of a house while German riflemen picked off anyone trying to outflank it. Eventually, a full company of men was required to get close enough for one of their number to reach the back of the house and break in. As he did so, a German soldier rushed up the cellar steps and fired a magazine of bullets from his Schmeisser, killing the intruder instantly. “His death,” recorded a British lance-corporal, “was followed a split second later by that of the German as our lads cut him down. Going through the house, they threw grenades into each room and the cellar. No prisoners were taken and several Germans were bayoneted as they tried to surrender.”8


Montgomery’s men were now advancing across the traditional training grounds of the Wehrmacht that covered the vast expanses of the North German Plain. They were encountering not just fanatical yet inexperienced Hitler Youth contingents but the hardened staffs from the army training schools, marines and even grounded Luftwaffe pilots–all now being thrown into the battle to stem the allied advance. British troops were increasingly minded to call for air strikes or heavy shelling to blast aside roadblocks or last-ditch strongholds–anything to reduce the risk of hand-to-hand fighting and encountering death when victory was now certain. The Germans still fighting were prepared to die for their Führer. It was hardly surprising that most allied soldiers were often all too happy to oblige them.9


In Wesel, Samain and the other commandos slept in a deserted factory. The next morning, looking out of a window, they spotted a dozen weary German soldiers wheeling bicycles towards the factory. They were chatting casually among themselves and remained oblivious to the commandos’ presence. Samain’s troop, arms at the ready, watched them come closer and closer, but held their fire. The Germans passed by only a few feet away. Still the British held back. Only when the last of the soldiers finally turned his back on them did they open up. Thirty seconds later, twelve corpses lay spread-eagled on the road.


During the few days of rest that followed, the commandos were well fed and read mail and newspapers from England packed with reports of their exploits. Most were accurate, but highly colored. “Every time I visit these men,” observed one of the war correspondents, “there is an atmosphere of death.” Samain laughed like the others when he read this. What on earth did the reporter expect? Did he not know, he wrote, that “Death, at that time, was our business?”10


It was certainly his. The training he had received on joining the Royal Marines was designed, after all, to transform him into an efficient killing machine. At the basic training school at Lympstone in Devon, the civilian was knocked out of him by weeks of drilling, marching and square-bashing. He learned to shave and wash in ice-cold water, defecate sitting precariously on a long, trestle-supported pole perched over an earthen trench, keep his hair short, and always be immaculately turned out.


Hardened into a human machine, he was then taught everything there was to know about the handheld instrument he needed for the job, the rifle. He learned how it was put together, how to strip it, and how to fire it. The position, he was told, was lying down, legs well apart and heels flattened inwards to the ground. The same went for the Bren light machine-gun, a standard British infantry weapon double the weight of a rifle which delivered five hundred rounds a minute.


Above all, he learned how to use and almost to love the Thompson sub-machine-gun (the “Tommy” gun), an American-manufactured weapon specially issued to the commandos. In Hollywood movies, the Tommy gun was a free sprayer of bullets producing heaps of victims in one lengthy burst. But Samain learned that the proper way to fire it was in short, controlled bursts of two or three .45-caliber bullets at a time. It was essentially a close-quarters weapon, most effective within a range of fifty yards. It had become his personal weapon of choice, and he had carried his through Normandy and Holland, always firing single shots or short bursts, conserving his ammunition.


But he was also taught to survive without any weapons at all. His training included bouts with a professional wrestler, whose first act was to shake him by the hand and throw him over his shoulder–“just to make sure,” he quipped, “that you never bloody well trust anyone!” He went on to learn how to kill someone with his bare hands–one skill he had luckily never had to use–how to tackle a knife-wielding adversary, and how to disarm a weapon-carrying enemy soldier at close quarters.


His physical fitness was tested to extremes in the Welsh hills and Scottish Highlands, where he trekked mile after mile with a full pack on his back, practiced night-time attacks by canoe on lonely lochs, and “cat-crawled” on a rope strung high across rushing rivers. “The greatest thrill of all,” he said, “was the final ‘Tarzan’ or ‘death slide’ when you slid with the aid of a wet toggle (to prevent burning) down a long, taut rope that ran at an angle of 45 degrees from the top of a high tree to the ground below.”11


In short, by the time he was allowed to wear the coveted green beret, Bryan Samain had been turned into a superbly fit, disciplined, thoroughly trained and skillful young army killer. Three short years before, he had been a fifteen-year-old schoolboy playing as an extra in the film Goodbye, Mr. Chips. The MGM studios were only a few miles from his school and he was one of the lucky ones chosen to take part. For three engrossing weeks he was taken by bus every morning to the studios at Denham, handed a costume, and rehearsed throughout the morning for scenes to be shot in the afternoon. The school was paid a guinea per day per head for their services. The heart-warming tale of an old schoolteacher looking back fondly over a long career while recalling pupils and colleagues was pure feel-good material, and featured not a single villain.


After Wesel and nineteen exhausting hours driving in the back of a truck along rough country roads in heavy drizzle and rain, Samain moved on to Osnabrück, a major industrial and railroad center en route to Lüneberg, and the largest German town so far taken by British forces. It was three-quarters blitzed, thousands of its citizens were cowering in cellars, and the town’s water supply, when it worked, mingled with raw sewage.


The main problem here was not fanatical SS resistance, although plenty of enemy snipers had to be picked off. Instead, the commandos found thousands of liberated slave laborers. Deported forcibly by the Nazis from all over Europe to work in factories and on farms, they were rioting and looting in a frenzy of celebration. Laughing Polish women were trying on fur coats, Frenchwomen looted stockings from shop windows, and men of every nationality scavenged wildly for food. Only after imposing a twenty-four-hour curfew did the marines finally manage to post guards on warehouses and bring some order to the city.12


Looting was almost universal. Nearby Hanover provided another vivid example. Allied military government officials arrived to find a city of half a million people with no water, no electricity and no working sewers. Even the restrained British official historian F.S.V. Donnison hints at scenes of horror: “It was a town of looting, drunkenness, rape and murder as forced labor broke from restraint,” he records. “Shots whistled by from drunken ‘slaves’ or left-behind snipers. Police were mobbed and their bodies strung from lampposts.” Only the brutal enforcement of law and order made possible the revival of basic services and the semblance of normal life.13


Now, however, in Lüneberg, everything appeared calm and peaceful. The commandos rested and prepared for the forthcoming crossing of the Elbe, the last important river barrier that stood in their way. There were hot baths and plenty of food. A cinema was rigged up, football matches were played between units, and in the comfortable middle-class house where he was billeted the padre discovered a cache of fine wine hidden in a secret room behind a cupboard, and champagne was enjoyed by all. All around, the town’s daily life continued much as usual while doctors and nurses carried on with their normal work. “It was strange,” recalled another British officer, “to wander round this lovely old city and meet on every street corner one’s hated enemy. Unarmed and engaged in the world-embracing task of ministering to the sick and wounded, they seemed harmless enough.”


Yet appearances were deceptive. All too close lay the dark underbelly of Hitler’s Third Reich. Next to a row of modern middle-class houses near the city center stood a small hospital made up of crude wooden huts. Packed inside, British soldiers found dozens of Russian slave laborers, both men and women. Most of them had been badly wounded in a recent RAF bombing raid on a nearby factory where they worked. Those who attempted to escape had been shot down by the SS. The morgue was filled to overflowing, and only a single doctor was on duty, helped by a solitary nurse. On dirty gray sheets, bathed in their own sweat and filth, the Russians lay gaunt and weak, too ill to move.


Samain had earlier witnessed similar misery on his final drive to the city. Traveling at speed along dusty rural roads, he more than once found himself held up for hours by crowds of displaced persons recently liberated from concentration or labor camps:


They would pass us on carts, in stolen German cars (which seemed to run out of petrol all too soon) and on the backs of horses. They drove cattle before them so they could eat; and on their backs were pots, pans, water bottles and old clothes. Every time they met us they cheered in a dozen different tongues, and when we looked at them closely we saw they were little more than walking skeletons, with ribs protruding pitifully from the flesh, faces lined and haggard, and eyes that told of a hundred sufferings.14


There were almost twelve million pairs of haunted eyes in those parts of Europe now being overrun by British and American troops. Many were Germans, fleeing in panic from the Russians or made homeless by allied bombing and shelling. But the vast majority were victims of the Nazis’ massive uprooting of Europeans from their native countries for racial, ideological or economic reasons. While some had moved voluntarily to Germany in search of work, most had been forcibly transported to labor for the Nazi war effort in factories and on farms.


Known as “displaced persons,” or DPs, this witches’ cauldron of the desperate and the dispossessed proved a headache to the advancing armies. They blocked roads, demanded to be fed and housed, and frequently vented their anger and desperation in bouts of looting and rioting. To take care of them, hundreds of trained civil affairs officers accompanied the forces in the field. But this military effort was seen as a purely short-term measure and everyone agreed that sooner rather than later civilians would have to take over. And those civilians already had their own organization. In November 1943, the allies had created a special relief and rehabilitation agency, known as UNRRA (United Nations Relief and Rehabilitation Agency), to deal with just such a problem.


At least, that was the plan. But the well-meant intent behind it quickly ran into some unyielding realities. The agency was ill-organized, lacked experienced and competent staff, and was severely short of equipment–above all, its own transport and supplies. Of the two hundred teams requested by the military for use early in 1945, only eight were produced, and in the parts of Germany liberated by the British Army, UNRRA’s task was often taken over by the Red Cross. But in the American zone–where the vast majority of the DPs were located–UNRRA eventually managed to field a few dozen teams.


This stuttering effort was dismally apparent at UNRRA’s training center near Granville in Normandy. The town was a gray and austere old fortress on the west coast of the Cotentin Peninsula facing the Channel Islands, which were still occupied by the Germans in the spring of 1945. Headquartered in the city’s grand old Hotel Normandie, the center did not open until early March, and was both badly administered and located disconcertingly far from where its task was most urgent.


In fact, it was almost abandoned even before it began work. Hardly had the advance team arrived than the Germans launched a daring commando raid on the town from the Channel Islands. They stayed for only thirty minutes, but in that time they succeeded in killing about twenty allied officers and men and capturing fifteen prisoners. Four of these came from the UNRRA team.15


UNRRA survived this assault, but to the many relief workers from Britain and across Europe who had enthusiastically volunteered to work with the war’s human wreckage Granville proved a dispiriting and frustrating place. Day after day they scanned the noticeboards in vain, hoping to learn they had been assigned to a team for immediate dispatch to Germany. Meanwhile, the newspapers were filled with reports describing desperate scenes such as those being witnessed by Bryan Samain that cried out for action.


One of the relief workers waiting at Granville was a slight, dark-haired Englishwoman in her fifties with blue eyes, aquiline features and a voice like a rusty saw. Francesca Wilson was a veteran in helping the human debris of Europe’s twentieth-century upheavals. She had worked with Serbian refugees during the First World War, fed starving children in post-war Vienna, looked after Russian émigrés fleeing the Bolsheviks, assisted victims of the civil war in Spain, and given shelter in her own home to exiles from Hitler’s Germany. “The main force driving me,” she explained, “has been first of all a desire for adventure and new experience and later on a longing for an activity that would take me out of myself, out of the all too bookish world I had lived in when studying, and even when teaching.”16


There was plenty in her life and background to escape from. Born on New Year’s Day 1889 to a Quaker family in Newcastle-upon-Tyne, her father ran the family-owned hatter’s furrier’s factory down on the quayside by the River Tyne, a dark, smelly and fortress-like building that always frightened Francesca. It was full of ragged women sitting on benches and shouting or singing in loud voices while they stripped the rough hair from rabbits’ skins.


She had two older sisters and a younger brother, and the family was prosperous enough, but her parents led an austere, pious and thrifty life. “Every penny was accounted for,” she recalled, “and not a farthing spent in self-indulgence. They smoked no tobacco, drank no strong drink, walked to their work and to meetings or took a twopenny bus.” To the end of his life, her father took a cold bath each morning, and every Sunday he handed out slabs of chocolate to the inmates of the nearby Workhouse Hospital.


Like most Quakers of the day, he was an ardent Liberal and supporter of Gladstone as well as a convinced pacifist and internationalist. The only time Francesca ever saw him angry was at the time of the relief of Mafeking, when British troops broke the siege of the town by the Boers. The children’s governess had bought them Union Jack flags, red, white and blue sweets, and colored portraits of Generals Buller, Kitchener and Roberts. “Bursting with chauvinistic pride,” she recalled, “we decorated the breakfast room and prepared to eat our patriotic sweets.” But at that very moment her father entered the room, swept away all the trophies, and furiously flung the pictures and flags into the fire.


The family house itself was stern, dark and typically Victorian. A three-story stone building standing high on a quiet avenue with a magnificent view over the Tyne Valley and the hills beyond, it included six bedrooms, a schoolroom, and a top-floor nursery that stretched the full length of the house. The rooms were gloomy and claustrophobic, with heavy carpets and curtains, and lace hanging over the windows. There was much heavy furniture and many pictures in gold frames. The Wilsons enjoyed the services of a cook, a housemaid, a weekly char for the washing, and an occasional gardener.


When Francesca was only four years old her mother “defected” to the Plymouth Brethren, an even more strict and severe order whose followers believed in the literal truth of the Bible and abhorred any notion of evolution. After that, Mrs. Wilson became a more pious and religious figure than before, determined to keep her children as cloistered and as far away from worldly temptations as she could. The result was that, until the age of thirteen, Francesca was educated at home by a governess, who was also a member of the Brethren. But finally, at her father’s insistence, she was sent to the leading girls’ grammar school in the city. Here, the seeds of religious doubt grew rapidly. She had always been a bright and curious girl with little time for traditional feminine fripperies and soon she was going off by herself to the city’s Literary and Philosophical Institute to drink in lectures about Dante and other writers, or taking long solitary walks in the rain to contemplate her loss of religious faith. Her father, she recalled, rarely read a book.


At eighteen, she won a place at Newnham College as one of a small and elite group of female students at Cambridge. Life in the university town offered her a stimulating new world of experience and intellectual discovery. Her best friend was an atheist and, even though chaperoned, she was able to meet fascinating men of her own age with whom she could talk frankly about life and the world.


After her First World War work with refugees, she spent most of the interwar years as the senior history mistress at a school in Birmingham. But here, too, she chafed at her restricted life and wanted more. She had had at least one passionate affair during her years in Europe but had no desire to be tied down in a marriage. Instead, she created a family by giving shelter to a succession of homeless exiles. Most were Russian refugees from the Bolsheviks, and she adopted one of these, Misha Sokolov, as her son. Others were Germans who had fled the Nazis, including the future distinguished architectural historian Nikolaus Pevsner.


After war broke out in 1939, she seized the chance to resume her front-line work with refugees and journeyed to Hungary to help Poles and Czechs who had fled their countries after the Nazi or Soviet takeovers. She documented these experiences in a book entitled In the Margins of Chaos.


This was the unpredictable terrain in which she flourished. “Like many spirited and capable people,” wrote her distinguished contemporary, the historian J.L. Hammond, “she enjoys flinging herself in situations that demand a high degree of resourcefulness, presence of mind, and the power of quick and effective action.”17


Francesca, as even her best friends admitted, was not the most practical of people, but she was creative and imaginative, and possessed boundless reserves of energy. Now, in Granville, she was impatient to get working. Every so often her face would break into a warm and welcoming smile. She loved being back in Europe and mixing with people from different nationalities, and she found it exhilarating talking with people who had worked so hard to see their countries freed from the Nazis. Only a year before, the Hotel Normandie, with its spacious terrace overlooking the sea, had been occupied by Wehrmacht troops, their laundry being washed and their meals cooked by the staff that were now looking after the UNRRA teams. Victory, she could see, was taking visible shape.


One by one, she met her fellow volunteers. Spending time in Granville didn’t bother her as much as it did the others. She was well aware of the center’s imperfections, but had already done most of her training in England so they hardly bothered her. For now, she was happy making friends and hearing accounts of life under German occupation. She was keen to liberate the deportees from enemy territory and get them back home. An adventure lay ahead, and she was looking forward to it.18


On this April Friday, too, a Canadian soldier named Reginald Roy was on the edge of the IJsselmeer–or what the Dutch used to call the Zuider Zee, or South Sea, to distinguish it from the North Sea, before they drained most of it dry. Canadian troops had reached the small community of Hoorst the day before after a rapid advance westward from Arnhem to cut the German forces in Holland in two.


It was a day of beautiful spring weather. The tulip fields were a mass of color and the grass tall, green and lush. There was no resistance as the Canadians rounded up fifty German prisoners without a single casualty. After almost a week of non-stop advance, sometimes up to twenty-five miles a day, it was time for a rest. Sleep came first, then the portable showers were brought in, weapons and vehicles were inspected, cleaned and repaired, and mail was distributed. Most of the men also seized the chance to write home with letters of their own. Receiving and sending mail was a fantastic morale booster and the army set a high priority on delivering it. Sometimes it was even brought to the men as they lay in slit trenches just yards away from the enemy.


Roy was a twenty-two-year-old second lieutenant in the Cape Breton Highlanders, one of the many regiments fighting with the First Canadian Army that formed the left-hand flank of Montgomery’s advance into Germany. He had even met the great British hero of El Alamein. It had happened a few weeks previously, during one of the prearranged publicity stunts so loved by the image-conscious British commander. Irreverently, Roy and his buddies referred to him as “God Almonty.” They had been warned he was coming and coached about what to do: they would be scattered in groups alongside the road, and as the great man passed in his jeep they would “spontaneously” and simultaneously raise a cheer and wave their helmets. Well in advance, Roy’s company was trucked to the chosen site, the vehicles were tucked away out of sight, and then he drilled his men thoroughly in their cheering.


When Monty duly arrived on schedule, the Canadians performed so well that he suddenly stopped in front of Roy and fired a barrage of questions at him. Where was he stationed? How long had he been there? When did he join up? Then he asked the average age of the men. Making a lightning guess, Roy replied, “Twenty-five, sir.” Delighted, Monty replied that this was exactly what he had hoped, before speeding off again along the road for more orchestrated stops.


But now, Reg was quickly devouring the three letters from his sister Joannie that were waiting for him. Then, in turn, he brought her up to date with an aerogram–a single sheet of thin blue paper that he folded in four, leaving just a small space to write her address. Two days earlier, the Cape Bretoners had liberated Barneveld in the central Netherlands, an agricultural town of a few thousand people. “What a welcome,” he enthused. “The town went mad–completely mad–with joy . . . Huge bands of men and women marched through the streets, arms linked and ten to fourteen abreast, singing their national anthem over and over. People everywhere were laughing, singing, shouting for joy. We were mobbed with kindness.”


Reg was overwhelmed by the abundant gratitude of the Dutch people. At one point he stopped at a house to brew himself some tea. When he asked the owner, an elderly woman, if she would care to join him, she dissolved into tears. “You can’t imagine,” he told his sister, “how good it makes you feel to bring such happiness to so many!”


The Highlanders, though, were not all about bringing joy; in fact, they were a notoriously rough-edged outfit. Recruited mostly from miners, fishermen, steelworkers and farmers from Cape Breton Island in Nova Scotia, on Canada’s harsh Atlantic coastline, they were a clannish bunch likely to resent anyone “from away,” meaning not born on the island. Most had recent Scottish or Irish ancestry, and a few were even Gaelic-speaking. Not for nothing was their Maple Leaf cap badge emblazoned with the Gaelic words: “Stol Na Fearail”–“the Breed of Manly Men.”


Roy’s own grandfather had left Scotland in the 1850s and arrived in Nova Scotia as a miner. His father had been a First World War sniper and pilot. But even with such a tough and military background, Roy found the men often hard to handle. “Out of the line,” he noted ruefully, “they were restless. Many liked the bottle a bit too much . . . and were somewhat quarrelsome.” Sectarian Catholic and Protestant rivalries also lay close to the surface and could often erupt abruptly and violently. But when they were well led, they proved fearsome fighters.


Not surprisingly, given their heritage, the Cape Bretoners were famous for their music. The day after liberating Barneveld, they piped their way through the streets followed again by an enormous crowd of enthusiastic townspeople.


For the Dutch everywhere, the arrival of the Canadians brought to an end five years of detested occupation and a regime that became harsher and more intolerable as time passed. Men were forcibly deported to Germany for labor, and underground resistance steadily grew. Increasingly savage reprisals and executions followed. Worse, a significant minority of the population actively collaborated with the Germans.


Liberation sparked spontaneous punishment of the guilty and a rough justice that caught many innocents in its grip. Resistance fighters, now free to emerge into the open and wearing their red, white and blue armbands, sped around the town on bicycles rounding up collaborators. Women who had slept with German soldiers had their hair shaved, were paraded around the streets and were slapped around by other women. A few local Dutch Nazis changed into civilian clothes and tried to slip out of town, but they were caught and forced to crawl on their hands and knees through the main streets to the prison, where they were shot.


Roy saw all of this with his own eyes. Never short of initiative, he promptly commandeered the apartment of one of the Nazis, including the sixteen-year-old maid, and made himself comfortable. Then, exhausted by the week’s fighting, he fell deeply asleep.19


Also on 20 April, but to the southeast, troops of the United States First Army entered Leipzig in Saxony, Germany’s fifth-largest city and a major industrial center. Here, Martin Luther had preached his first sermon, Johann Sebastian Bach lay buried, and Richard Wagner was baptized. The city was also the site of one of Germany’s most famous historic memorials, the massive three-hundred-foot stone monument built to celebrate the Battle of the Nations won against Napoleon’s forces after his retreat from Moscow.


Here, too, SS troops now fought on to the bitter end, some of them retreating into the cavernous base of the monument for a desperate firefight with the Americans. When the battle for the city was over, the GIs took some twelve thousand prisoners. At the Town Hall, they uncovered a macabre Wagnerian scene. In the Council Chamber, sprawled dead over tables with blood on the floor, lay three members of the Volkssturm, the German Home Guard. They had shot themselves. Next to one of them stood a half-empty bottle of cognac.


Upstairs, in the Lord Mayor’s luxuriously furnished oak-paneled office, they discovered an even more grisly spectacle. Slumped dead over his paper-strewn desk, his hands sprawled out on the blotting pad in front of him and an empty bottle beside him, lay Lord Mayor Alfred Freyberg. Facing the dead man on the wall was a large oil-painting of Hitler. Beneath it, spread-eagled on her back across a large leather sofa, lay the body of Freyberg’s wife, her head on the armrest and her feet stretched out on the floor as though she were taking a nap. In an adjacent armchair lay their dead eighteen-year-old daughter.


Three days before, they had all taken poison after a somber last supper, when it was obvious that the end had come to their Nazi dreams. At about ten o’clock, they went down to the cellar restaurant below the Town Hall and enjoyed champagne and sandwiches with a local high-ranking Nazi. Suddenly, Freyberg announced that they could not possibly survive the occupation of the city and formulated the suicide pact. When the shocked official protested that this was akin to deserting Germany in its hour of need, Freyberg simply shrugged his shoulders. “It’s all over,” he said, “Germany is beaten forever.” At midnight, he and his family went up to his office, locked the door, and carried out the pact.


Behind a closed door leading from the Mayor’s office the Americans found three more bodies: those of the City Treasurer, his wife, and their daughter, still wearing her nurse’s uniform. They, too, had taken poison. Outside, in an anteroom, lay the body of another Volkssturm member who had killed himself. Twenty- and fifty-mark notes lay scattered around his corpse.


Just outside the city, the Americans discovered a small concentration camp. The day before, SS guards had herded its three hundred inmates into one of the wooden barracks, doused it with petrol, and set it alight with grenades. Those who tried to escape from the blaze were shot. The buildings were still smoldering and corpses festooned the barbed-wire perimeter when the GIs arrived. Following what by now was becoming a grimly familiar routine across Germany, the city’s new burgermeister was ordered to supply caskets for the dead and to find people to dig the graves. He was also instructed to provide a cross and a wreath for each grave, and all city officials were required to attend the funerals, along with a hundred other prominent citizens. Several hundred DPs dropped flowers on the graves, as did some of the several hundred Germans who voluntarily joined the ceremony.20


But the caretaker who had shown the Americans round the Town Hall seemed unmoved by all the deaths. When they had seen enough, he had simply locked the doors behind them and walked down the stairs. A little later, Hitler heard of the Mayor’s suicide pact and baldly declared it a “cowardly evasion of responsibility.”21


As British troops nudged forwards to the suburbs of Bremen and Hamburg in northern Germany, Hitler’s birthday saw US forces enter Nuremberg in the south.


Hitler had made Nazism a secular religion with himself as God and Nuremberg as its holy shrine. All six Nazi Party Rallies of the Third Reich had been held there, vast ritualized spectacles that were immortalized in Leni Riefenstahl’s famous documentary, Triumph of the Will. At first lasting four days, then extending to eight, each September they were attended by a quarter of a million people drawn from all over Germany and from every sector of German society. Some fifty thousand were members of the Hitler Youth or the German Girls’ League. Two thousand of them walked several hundred miles on a grueling “Adolf Hitler March” to reach the city.


The Rallies saw endless parades, displays of mass calisthenics, continuous music and singing, gala performances of Wagner, solemn ceremonies to honor the party’s “martyrs” killed in the failed 1923 Munich putsch, and military exercises. Their dramatic high point came on the evening of the “Day of the Political Leaders.” As darkness fell and 100,000 spectators took their seats, 110,000 men marched onto the review field and the space was suddenly lit by a ring of lights illuminating thousands of fluttering party banners. Then, at the instant Hitler entered the arena, one hundred and fifty searchlights shot their beams vertically into the night sky to produce a vast “cathedral of light.” It was, said one overawed spectator, “solemn and beautiful . . . like being inside a cathedral of ice.”22


Hitler had deliberately selected Nuremberg because it was a virtually intact walled medieval city with a castle. Unsullied by modernism, it thus linked the Nazi Party with German history stretching back to the First Reich of the Middle Ages. The city, declared its Nazi Lord Mayor proudly, was the “most German of all German cities.” To emphasize the point, after the 1938 Anschluss with Austria, Hitler had the regalia of the old Holy Roman Empire–including Charlemagne’s bejeweled prayer book and several scepters and orbs–brought back to the city from Vienna, to which they had been removed in 1794 to save them from the marauding armies of Revolutionary France.


It was to Nuremberg, too, that the German Reichstag was summoned during the 1935 Rally to pass the infamous, anti-Semitic “Nuremberg Laws” that deprived Germany’s Jews of their basic civil rights and proclaimed illegal–through the “Law for the Protection of German Blood and German Honor”–all marriages between Germans and Jews. (This law was extended the next year to encompass Roma, Sinti and non-whites.) The city was also home to the Sturmer Publishing House, owned by Julius Streicher, a radical anti-Semite and one-time local Nazi Party Gauleiter (district party leader). His newspaper, Der Stürmer, had a circulation of hundreds of thousands and spewed out a diet of undiluted hatred against the Jews. “If one really wants to put an end to the continued prospering of this curse from heaven that is Jewish blood,” wrote Streicher on Christmas Day 1941, “there is only one way to do it: to eradicate this people, this Satan’s son, root and branch.”23


The walled city was far too small for the enormous Rally crowds, so in 1934 Albert Speer, Hitler’s favorite architect, had been commissioned to design a vast complex of buildings and parade grounds on the southeast edge of the city. Eventually covering some eleven acres, it included the Luitpold Arena, capable of holding some 150,000 people, the Congress Hall, seating 50,000, and the vast Zeppelin Field. This last was designed by Speer personally and was modeled on the Pergamon Altar. With a spectators’ tribune some three hundred meters long crowned by a gilded copper swastika, it held some hundred thousand people. A special railway station was constructed close by to deliver the vast crowds to its entrance. Nearby, a sprawling wooden city of halls, open-air theaters, bowling alleys and carousels was built for the Nazi organization Kraft durch Freude (Strength through Joy).


In all, the Rally grounds with their vast monumental buildings symbolized the two great, powerful myths of the Third Reich: first that of the Führer–the idea that Hitler was an instrument of Providence sent to save the German people; second, that of the Volksgemeinschaft, or national community, founded on shared feelings and experiences. The buildings were all designed so that Hitler would be the sole focus of attention and elevated well above the crowds. The central axis of the complex–the two-thousand-yard-long and sixty-yard-wide “Great Road”–was deliberately aligned by Speer with the city’s castle and old town. This again symbolically linked the Rallies, the Nazi Party and the Third Reich with the historic German past.24


The shrine-like significance of Nuremberg to Hitler and the Nazis was not lost on allied propagandists. Newspapers, especially in the United States, made much of its impending capture, as did the US Army. “In view of its ranking position as Nazi Circus Town,” noted one US Army map of the city, “its importance cannot be exaggerated.” By the time of Hitler’s birthday, two-thirds of its 450,000 population had fled, 90 percent of the ancient city lay in ruins, and of its 65 listed artistic monuments, 32 had been completely destroyed and another 18 badly damaged.


But the local Gauleiter promised Hitler that he would fight to the death and there followed a grueling four-day battle. The city’s medieval half-timbered streets had already been largely obliterated and burned by allied bombers, with the heaviest raids taking place a few weeks earlier. Over six thousand people were killed and over three hundred thousand made homeless by the bombardments. Now, though, the city’s anti-aircraft guns were directed against the US infantrymen on the ground. Disguised as a house painter, Julius Streicher had fled three days before from his home in nearby Steinbach in a limousine driven by his wife followed by a truckload of personal belongings, leaving behind him an extensive library on Jewry, including hundreds of volumes in English. Streicher’s successor as Gauleiter of Franconia, as well as the Lord Mayor of the city, were both eventually found dead in Gestapo headquarters, where they had killed themselves.


The Americans faced hand-to-hand fighting through rubbled houses and cellars before finally breaching the old city walls. The next day, in the battered ruins of the Adolf Hitler Platz in the heart of the city, they raised Old Glory while a military band played “The Stars and Stripes Forever.” Out on the Rally grounds sprawled a handful of dead Hitler Youth and Volkssturm conscripts who had attempted a futile last-ditch resistance. “Over the vast stadium,” announced Universal Studio’s weekly newsreel shown in cinemas across America, “Old Glory overshadows one of the world’s most hated symbols. Here, where once thousands of swastikas flew above goose-stepping troops parading before the Führer, and where he ranted to the assembled thousands, the troops Hitler once laughed at take over.”


In the wrecked city, order was only slowly restored. Few city employees took any notice of the order to return to work broadcast from loudspeakers mounted on the back of US Army trucks as they snaked and bumped their way along the narrow tracks cleared through the rubble.


Meanwhile, German civilians and freed forced laborers alike happily looted warehouses stacked with food, undeterred by the two hundred streetcar conductors drafted in by the Americans to act as temporary policemen. Reports of rape and robbery by GIs piled up on the desk of the army’s public safety officer. A few days later, watched by a legion of war reporters from around the world, the swastika over the Zeppelin Field was dynamited into smithereens by American troops.25



CHAPTER TWO


“SORROW AND DARKNESS”


Hitler’s war was fought not just on the battlefield. It was a struggle he waged against enemies wherever he found them. As a totalitarian ideology, Nazism had everyone in its sights, and its opponents were nowhere more obvious and threatening than at home. If Germany was to be renewed, believed Hitler, then he must first eliminate the internal forces he blamed for the catastrophe of the nation’s defeat in 1918. This primarily meant the Jews, the Bolsheviks, socialists, liberals, democrats–the list was easily expandable. Since 1933, he had been steadily “cleansing” the Third Reich of these groups’ influence with his racial laws and relentless political persecution. Those designated as hostile, alien or degenerate were thrown into prisons or concentration camps, dozens of which had sprung up across Germany since his seizure of power. Since the outbreak of war and Germany’s occupation of most of Europe, their population had expanded into hundreds of thousands. Millions of Jews had been shot in mass killings or murdered in extermination camps, such as Auschwitz-Birkenau, Treblinka and Sobibor.


The concentration camps were run by the SS. Its head, Heinrich Himmler, claimed they existed to reeducate their prisoners, who were invariably depicted as criminal, along the paths of obedience, self-sacrifice and “love of the Fatherland.” In reality, they were little more than licensed centers of brutality and terror, designed to isolate and break the spirits of their inmates.1 By April 1945, they had become places of unspeakable atrocity as food ran scarce, disease became rampant, and arbitrary violence and killings took hold. Their existence was no secret; indeed, the SS had been glad to use their reputation as a weapon to terrorize the population into submission. But outside their barbed-wire perimeters, no one had any inkling of the full scale of the horrors that were about to be exposed.


The ancient, small town of Dachau lies about twelve miles northwest of Munich. For centuries it was favored by Bavarian princes as a summer residence, and in the eighteenth century they remodeled its medieval castle into a grand royal palace. By the end of the following century, the town had also become a flourishing artists’ colony, a welcome refuge from the noisy streets of Munich.


But this serenity was soon to be broken by the First World War, when the voracious demands of the Kaiser’s armies led to the construction of a large munitions plant on the outskirts of the town. After the war ended with the drastic disarmament clauses of the Treaty of Versailles, the factory was closed down. Its acreage became a forlorn and abandoned site crying out for some new development. Salvation arrived just two months after Hitler came to power. On 21 March 1933, Heinrich Himmler announced that it had been chosen as the location of a detention camp for “the enemies of National Socialism.”


Dachau was the first of what, over the next twelve years, was to become a vast empire of Nazi prison camps. Its early inmates were members of the German Social Democratic and Communist parties, but soon they were joined by thousands of others deemed enemies of the Reich, such as Jehovah’s Witnesses, gypsies, clergymen and homosexuals. After Kristallnacht in 1938, some ten thousand Jews were also shipped there, although most of them were released after a few weeks. Once the war began, the numbers were swelled by such groups as resistance fighters from across occupied Europe, anti-Nazi German émigrés captured in Paris, Amsterdam or Prague, gypsies, Polish priests and dissident Wehrmacht officers.


By April 1945, over two hundred thousand prisoners had passed through its gates, and more than thirty thousand had died. In addition, and unrecorded in its otherwise meticulously kept records, tens of thousands of Russian prisoners of war had been shot en masse. Dachau also played host to medical experiments on live prisoners, such as measuring the effects of rapid decompression and freezing temperatures on the human body.


As Hitler’s empire collapsed, the camp ultimately provided a dumping ground for prisoners from other concentration camps. The already appalling conditions deteriorated sharply. By the time of Hitler’s birthday, the daily ration for inmates was down to six hundred calories–a starvation diet–and typhus had taken hold; two hundred prisoners were dying from the disease every day. Just the week before, Himmler had told the camp’s commander that there was to be no surrender to allied forces. The prisoners were to be evacuated, he ordered, and on no account were any of them to fall into the hands of the enemy.


The camp now held seventy thousand inmates, none of whom knew if they would survive these last few days of the war. Among them was a blue-eyed, twenty-six-year-old German named Fey von Hassell. A few short years before, she could never have imagined she would end up behind the camp’s barbed-wire perimeter. After all, she was a child of privilege. Her father, Ulrich von Hassell, was one of Germany’s most urbane and distinguished diplomats, with a career stretching back to the days of the Kaiser. He had been posted to Rome as German Ambassador only weeks before the Nazi seizure of power and stayed there until 1938, when he was dismissed by Joachim von Ribbentrop, Hitler’s foreign minister, for criticizing Nazi policy towards Britain.


In Rome, Fey had enjoyed all the pleasures of an ambassador’s daughter, with an endless round of society balls and glittering parties. In the Villa Wolkonsky, the German Embassy, she had had a beautiful bedroom all to herself. “It has a lovely balcony overlooking the garden,” she wrote in her diary. “I feel like a princess!”2


But her fate was inextricably tied to her father’s. Like many other conservatives and nationalists committed to rebuilding a powerful Germany by reversing the terms of the Treaty of Versailles, he had deluded himself that Hitler could be controlled. So, when his own party, the right-wing DNVP, was dissolved in 1933, he had joined the Nazis. Unlike some other senior German diplomats, he had also stayed at his post.


Yet, long before his dismissal, he had become disgusted with the barbarities of the regime and seriously alarmed by the march to war. On leaving Rome, he linked up with conservative opposition groups, and later in his secret diary railed at the Nazis’ persecution of the Jews, the euthanasia program against the handicapped and insane, the savagery of the war in the East, and the general barbarity that now ruled his country. This did not prevent the émigré novelist Thomas Mann from judging him harshly: von Hassell, declared Mann, was “one of the people who should never have served the Nazis and yet who did so out of ambition, cynicism, or ignorance. Too late did they regain their sight.”3


Perhaps aware of this responsibility, von Hassell also drew close to the conspiracy that culminated in the July 1944 plot by army officers to assassinate Hitler with a bomb planted beneath the conference table at his military headquarters at Rastenberg in East Prussia. The device exploded but failed to kill its target. Nazi retribution was savage and widespread. Colonel Claus von Stauffenberg, the man who planted the bomb, was executed along with dozens of other plotters. Thousands more across Germany suspected of anti-Hitler sympathies were arrested by the Gestapo and sent to camps. Organized opposition to the regime–and with it any hope of ridding Germany of Hitler through internal revolt–was crushed.4


News of the bomb plot had filtered through to Fey in Friuli, the region of northeast Italy bordering Yugoslavia. By this time she was married to a young Italian aristocrat, Detalmo Pirzio-Biroli, and was living on his family’s estate at Brazzà, close to the snow-covered peaks of the Dolomite Mountains, not far from Udine. His family had an ancient and distinguished lineage: Brazzaville, capital of the Congo, took its name from his grandfather’s brother, the explorer Count Detalmo Savorgnan di Brazzà; while his grandmother was the American heiress Cora Slocomb. The estate had been in the family’s hands for almost a thousand years.5


A few days before the wedding, Detalmo had written Fey a special letter:


I begin my life as the happiest man on earth . . . As for you, my darling love, I wish you good luck with all my heart! You are leaving your glorious family and your people to follow me! You are coming away with me to a house that is dull [and] empty . . . You are marrying a young man who still has everything to do! Who can present you with absolutely nothing: no cozy home, not much money, no advanced career, really nothing . . . You face the unknown! I understand all this very well, Fey, and I admire you so.6


When he wrote these words, he could have had no idea how immense the unknown that she faced was to become.


Brazzà boasted forty-eight rooms and had a little chapel in the grounds. The family always spent the summers there, and here its members were born, married and buried. Fey thought of it now as her home, too. It was, as Detalmo said, “like a huge old hen protecting us with its broad wings.” She loved it, especially amid the turmoil of war. “It is standing on a hill far from all the troubles and worries of the world,” she wrote to her mother when she first caught a glimpse of the villa surrounded by shaded marble seats, gravel paths and cypress and pine trees. All around lay the vast Friuli Plain, studded with brilliant white houses and poplars that stretched far into the distance. “On one side you look down over a great plain towards Venice,” she enthused. “On the other you can see the mountains, still topped with snow.”


But a few years later, in the aftermath of the bomb plot, the troubles of the world finally sought her out. Evidence of an active opposition exhilarated her, and at first she pushed aside worries about her father. “The names of the men who had been executed, published in the papers, were all too familiar to me,” she wrote. “Even though they were mainly army officers at that point, many were friends of my father. Maybe, I thought, the ‘civilian’ opposition groups had not been discovered.”7


Letters from her mother continued to arrive from Germany, but they made no reference to the plot–naturally enough, for everyone knew that mail were heavily scrutinized by the Gestapo. Fey was not overly worried, although several references to “one great preoccupation” concerned her. Nevertheless, when she heard no bad news, she assumed that if her father had been involved, he had not been found out.


However, an undercurrent of worry persisted, especially as she had no one to reassure her. She had hardly seen Detalmo for months. After the fall of Mussolini in 1943, Italy had signed an armistice with the allies. That same day, Detalmo had quit the Italian Army to go underground and work with the resistance in Rome, his native city. As the Germans flooded the north of Italy with troops, his last gesture of defiance had been to throw open the gates of the prisoner-of-war camp he was guarding and allow thousands of allied soldiers to escape into the surrounding countryside.


Now Fey heard from him only through occasional letters. As they had agreed in advance for security’s sake, he signed them either “Isabella” or “Giuseppe.” Sometimes, though, he was able to arrange for a letter to be delivered by hand to her personally at Brazzà by a resistance fighter. On those occasions he wrote frankly. In December 1943 he had written in English, their common language, to tell her what he was doing for the resistance, which was mostly working with contacts abroad and writing propaganda to be circulated in America about the Italy he hoped to see emerge from the war.


To Detalmo, as to others in the resistance, victory would see a rebirth comparable to the great nineteenth-century Risorgimento inspired by Garibaldi. “My darling,” he’d concluded,


I love you, and you stand out in my thoughts as something extremely great and important in life. I would like to be with you and try to console you a little. This is a great revolution, like the other great ones in history. We must make the new world. Let us only think of this difficult task and especially that we are going to work together with the children under the blessing of our great love. Put all other mournful thoughts aside.8


But building new worlds was easier said than done. To make matters worse, Brazzà itself had been requisitioned by the Germans. First, a regiment of the SS took it over, and when they left, officers of the German Army’s Corps of Engineers arrived. Only after fierce bargaining had Fey got them to agree that she and the boys could use three of the rooms on the first floor. Life became increasingly difficult and stressful. To get through the weeks and months of unaccustomed isolation, she had to draw on all her inner strength.


She was a German living in occupied Italy, where anti-German feeling was rising in leaps and bounds. Daily, she had to negotiate with the officers about tiresome but essential details regarding domestic affairs and the running of the estate. Beyond its gates, Italian partisans were growing in number and daring. They roamed around the countryside, descended on villages and houses to demand or steal food, sniped at German soldiers, and provoked sometimes brutal retaliation against the peasants.


Fey did not have much time for them, believing that a lot of what they did was stupid or counterproductive. Taking pot-shots at German soldiers was easy compared to the far more dangerous and useful work of blowing up bridges and roads, she thought; and it provoked more reprisals.


Behind her reaction lay the knowledge that her brother Hans Dieter was serving with the Wehrmacht in France. He had been seriously wounded fighting against the Russians and was now adjutant to one of the leading generals in occupied Paris, where the French resistance had also begun killing German soldiers. He had visited Brazzà a few months before and had been able to jolly along the officers who were occupying the house, which made things easier for a time. Then, after eight short and wonderful days, he had returned to Paris.


After he left, Fey felt more alone than ever. On several occasions she dealt with pleas from the local populace to intercede to prevent someone being shot or deported. To help, she tried her best to keep on decent terms with the local SS. From time to time she even invited the Udine representative of its security service, a Major Alvensleben, whose family was known to her parents, to tea at Brazzà, and once she successfully talked him into rescinding a deportation order against one of the locals. As a result of these tactics, she was accused of being too cozy with the hated occupiers.


Negotiating her way through the political minefield that had become Brazzà was exhausting. In a rare letter she managed to have delivered by hand to her mother, she wrote:


The partisans have put me on their blacklist, because they say I’m too friendly with the Germans. On the other hand the local people appreciate me because they know that I help when I can. However, that is only useful to me when dealing with Italian partisans. If the Slavic ones [i.e., Tito’s communist partisans from Yugoslavia] should arrive, they will not ask how I behaved or what I did . . . I’m rather at a loss.9


The only real comfort she found in this crash course on female independence was with her sons, Corrado, aged three and a half, and Roberto, who was eighteen months younger. She and Detalmo had planned to wait until the war was over to have children, yet Corrado’s unexpected arrival in November 1940 had given her quiet satisfaction. His brother’s arrival had been less welcome. “It must be the supreme spell of Nature,” Detalmo resignedly told his mother-in-law, “which evidently wants to fight death with life.” But Fey had quickly adjusted and adored them both: “They are all my joy in uncertain times,” she wrote to Detalmo in one of her secret letters. However, even this small oasis of family happiness was to be snatched away from her.


On Saturday, 9 September 1944 Fey was lying in bed. It was 7 a.m. Suddenly there was a knock at the door. Outside stood Lieutenant Hans Kretschmann, the twenty-three-year-old aide-de-camp to Colonel Dannenberg, the officer in charge of the contingent billeted in the house. Fey deeply distrusted him. “Educated by the Nazis and soaked in their propaganda,” she recorded, he “lacked flexibility of thought. I do not believe he had a single independent idea in his head. His opinions had been learned in school, in the Hitler Youth, and at military college.” His only apparent weakness was a tendency towards melancholia, which he would drown out by drinking. Sometimes, other officers informed her, he’d leap on the table after dining and tap dance “like a man possessed to the wild applause of his audience.”10


Yet it was a cold and indifferent Kretschmann who now stood in front of her. His face was ashen, and she could read fear in his eyes.


“For heaven’s sake what’s happened?” she asked irritably as he stood there saying nothing.


“Luckily you are still at home.”


“Why shouldn’t I be?” she asked.


“You didn’t listen to the radio last night or early this morning?”


“No,” she answered. “How could I? I have guests; they’re still asleep next door. What has happened?”


Without any more preliminaries Kretschmann threw his response in her face. “Your father has been arrested and executed. He has been hanged.”11


All the self-control Fey had been brought up with was mustered at that instant. Only her body betrayed her as she began to shake. Like most people confronted with shocking news, her mind seemed to close down and focus on the immediate and practical. She asked her guests to depart at once and, as they left, hid some of her diaries in their pockets. If the SS needed any proof of her own anti-Nazi feelings, they would find it in her diaries.


At ten o’clock, a Gestapo official, along with Colonel Dannenberg, arrived to take her to Udine. It was the colonel who had informed the secret police that von Hassell’s daughter was living at Brazzà. He looked duly embarrassed and guilty, mouthing apologetic words of condolence. She asked her maids to take the children to their rooms so they would not see her being taken away. As she was led to the waiting car, members of the estate’s staff silently watched, frightened and weeping.


They drove to the Gestapo headquarters in Udine in silence, too. There, after some discussion, it was decided to put her in the city prison. The women’s section was run by nuns belonging to the order of Ancella della Carita (the Handmaidens of Charity). For years they had been used to handling nothing but common criminals and delinquents, and Fey found their commands “rude and harsh.” The Gestapo ordered them to find her a cell to herself, but the prison, built for fifty, now held more than three times that number, and the “politicals” were mixed up haphazardly with the criminals. Some were packed thirty to a room and had to sleep without blankets on wooden boards.


Fey was lucky, though. She was put in a cell with just two other women. Between them they had two iron camp beds and two mattresses, as well as blankets. She was too tired and shocked even to talk to her cellmates. She just slumped down exhausted on one of the beds.


During the lonely months at Brazzà she had begun to pride herself on her power of patient suffering, but quickly she found it being severely tested. There was only one toilet in the whole prison. Twice a day the cells were opened and Fey stood in a long queue awaiting her turn on the filthy, primitive bowl. The cells crawled with insects and buzzed with mosquitoes. All she got to eat each day was a single bowl of disgusting soup.


Meanwhile, the nuns prayed constantly. They prayed in the morning, they prayed before the meal, they prayed after the meal, and they prayed last thing at night. They even prayed during the toilet break, and during the few precious minutes every day when the inmates were let out for exercise in the courtyard. Every morning they all celebrated mass in the tiny chapel. “At least it was a change from being locked up,” wrote Fey, who had been brought up as a Protestant. She even recorded that she found the mass quite beautiful.


But she found agonizing the periodic roll-call when the guards would read out the names of the women to be deported to Germany. The prison would fall totally silent, and everyone would wait with dread for their name to be read out. The prisoners unlucky enough to be called would fall to the ground in convulsions and have to be dragged away. It was a frequent reminder to Fey of her father’s death, which haunted her waking hours.


Aside from the mass, her only relief came in the form of almost daily visits from one or other of the German officers at Brazzà. Even Kretschmann and Dannenberg appeared, obviously racked with guilt and promising to speak with the SS and get her freed. A long week passed with no news, but after ten days, they succeeded. She could return home until further orders were received.


“I felt like a queen sitting in Kretschmann’s car,” Fey recalled, “speeding through the countryside under a splendid blue sky. The fresh air, the sun, and the green fields seemed to promise a liberty far greater than I had any hope of obtaining.” The children were ecstatic to see her again. Corrado kept hugging her and crawling into her arms, and when she began to cry he shouted, “Mama is crying. Corradino wants to help mama!” Roberto simply rushed crazily from room to room in his excitement. That evening, she said prayers with them before putting them to bed. “Mama must never go away again,” Corradino said, “without telling Corrado where she’s going and when she is coming back; it’s a terrible thing.” Elated by the day’s events, Fey promised it would never happen again.12


But a mere five days later she was woken up again by a knock on the door. This time an officer handed her a letter from Dannenberg. He had unexpectedly been called away to Verona, he explained, but he had been informed that the next day she and the children were to be taken, for the moment, to Innsbruck. He would personally drive them to the station at Udine, where a man in civilian clothes would collect them. “So, Mrs. Pirzio-Biroli,” he concluded, “chin up, even if everything is very difficult for you.”


Her reaction was despair mixed with anger. Despite the fact she was obviously a marginal figure, had two small children, and was not even living in Germany, she was being sucked into the Nazi terror machine. She had already rejected offers from the resistance to help her escape, mostly because of fears about the reprisals that might fall on her mother, and she now felt angry at herself for turning them down. But she still refused as impractical a last-minute plan by the resistance to attack the train to Innsbruck.


With only twenty-four hours to get ready, family servants stayed up all night busily knitting sweaters for the boys while a local cobbler hurriedly made them shoes. One of the German officers gave her three hundred marks, which he advised her to sew into the lining of her coat. Her baggage consisted mostly of things to eat, including an entire ham and several large salamis.


The news of her transportation quickly spread, and friends and neighbors came with cigarettes, biscuits, tins of meat, tea and condensed milk. That evening more friends came over and they drank some cognac. Before they left she asked them to make sure that Detalmo was told what had happened. She also wrote a hurried note to Lotti, her old governess, who had virtually become one of the family and was living in Rome. After telling her in a few short lines what was happening, she signed it: “Your desperate and worried Fey.”13


At four o’clock in the morning, while it was still dark, Dannenberg’s “big black car,” as one of the boys would forever remember it, picked them up and drove them to the station. Here Dannenberg helped carry Fey’s suitcase before handing them over to the Gestapo man in civilian clothes. One or two friends came to the station to lend moral support, and Fey burst out weeping. She felt that she was on the verge of losing everything.14


After an agonizing wait, the train finally arrived, the Gestapo men led them to a private compartment, and the children fell instantly asleep. The train was slow, they missed a connection, and only the next afternoon did they arrive at Innsbruck. Its Gestapo office was housed in a comfortable villa, but Fey’s arrival was far from friendly. “You are the daughter of that criminal whose head we cut off: that dog, that pig! Do you expect to be greeted with kid gloves?” were the first words that greeted her. It was a foretaste of what was to come.


The next day, as Fey was putting the boys down for their afternoon nap, two SS nurses arrived and abruptly took them away. It would be for only a few days, they assured her, and the boys would be kept comfortable and safe in a children’s home; meanwhile, the Gestapo wanted to ask her some questions. As calmly as she could, she told the boys: “Mama will follow you very soon, but first you will go for a nice walk.” Roberto seemed happy at the idea, but Corrado, sensing that all was not right, began to scream and tried desperately to escape the grip of the nurse. Fey could hear his wailing as it faded away in the distance and she was left alone in the room. She had no idea where they were being taken. Still less did she know what her own fate was to be.


Three weeks later, she found out. An SS officer arrived at the villa and said simply, “We’re going on a little trip.” “Where to?” she asked. “Silesia,” he replied, and her heart sank–this was hundreds of miles away in eastern Germany. “And my children?” she inquired. His response chilled her to the bone. “You’ve got children?” he asked. “I didn’t know that.” Nor did he care. That night, as she sat in the chilly Innsbruck railway station between two guards, she wept for her children, abandoned without friends or family in a strange country. She shed tears for herself too, for her father, and for Germany itself, run now by gangsters. It was the most wretched moment in this young twenty-six-year-old’s life.


Thereafter, in a nightmare of travels, she was shifted round Germany and the rest of Central Europe like a sack of produce. In a deserted old hotel in the forests of Bohemia, she joined a small group of other prisoners. As soon as she heard their names, she realized they had something in common: they were all relatives of the bomb-plot conspirators. Officially, the SS termed them Sippenhafte, or prisoners of kin.


Whatever their ultimate fate, it quickly dawned on Fey that their destinies were now intimately bound up together until the end of the war, or death. Their situation was bizarre–privileged yet precarious. One of the hotel staff politely carried her cases up to her bedroom, which had a pleasant view over the trees. A couple of letters were waiting for her at the reception desk. Outwardly, it seemed as though all was normal and peaceful.


Downstairs, in the paneled old lobby, she quickly got to know the others. They included several relatives of Carl Friedrich Goerdeler, the conservative former Mayor of Leipzig who had been removed by the Nazis and chosen by the conspirators as the head of the post-Hitler government. But the group she was instinctively drawn to was the Stauffenbergs. They included several of Claus von Stauffenberg’s cousins, as well as members of his more immediate family. With Mika, the widow of Claus’s elder brother Berthold, who had also been executed, she felt an immediate bond. Mika, too, had had her two small children taken away by the SS. Soon, Fey was calling them all by their nicknames and spending most of her time with them. For the first time since being wrenched from her children at Innsbruck, she felt like she had a family again.


Of all the Stauffenbergs, however, she felt closest to Alex, Berthold’s twin. “Fey–what a pretty name!” he had exclaimed spontaneously when first meeting her, and she had blushed deep red. He had been arrested while serving with the army in Greece and was still wearing his officer’s uniform, but he was no professional soldier. On the contrary, he was an unworldly and melancholy character who had been Professor of Ancient History at the University of Munich. He fitted the stereotype of the vague and untidy academic to perfection, with his hair never properly combed and a gentle dry humor that instantly endeared him to Fey. Smiling, with twinkling eyes, he would sit back in his chair after a meal and refer ironically to their “SS hosts.” It always made her laugh.


A few days later she found him reading Dante’s Inferno in Italian. It was a language he did not know, but he was making sense of it with the help of his Latin and an accompanying English translation. So when Fey decided to offer Italian lessons to others in the group as a way of taking her mind off the children, Alex came along. He picked up the language far quicker than the others, and soon they began taking long walks together, speaking Italian.


It was not long before they were confiding in each other. Alex was still in shock over the execution of his two brothers. In turn, Fey poured out the anguish she felt over Corrado and Roberto, and the grief over her father. Talking with him, she also realized that during her long years in Italy she had become profoundly homesick for Germany. Unlike the Nazis and the SS, Alex personified all that she loved about her native land. Tall and with a handsome profile, he could recite by heart the poems of Goethe, who was her favorite writer. He also wrote poetry himself. The growing friendship between them helped assuage her grief and fear, and gave her some welcome consolation.


Many of the prisoners came from deeply aristocratic families, as did Fey of course, and not just on her father’s side. Her mother, Ilse, was the daughter of Admiral von Tirpitz, the mastermind behind Kaiser William II’s High Seas Fleet that had contested the naval race with Britain before the First World War. Tirpitz had been a powerful influence on her father, who had absorbed much of the admiral’s nationalist fervor.


Ironically for the granddaughter of the man who did so much to turn British opinion against Germany and all things Teutonic, Fey, like many young women of her class, had received some of her education at the blue-chip Cheltenham Ladies’ College. She had found England a friendly but strange place stuck in a world more familiar to her grandmother. “We go for long walks through the woods and fields, have picnics in all weather, play tennis, ride bicycles and take afternoon tea on green lawns,” she wrote in her diary. “Everyone is kind, although not at all intellectual. I have the feeling,” she concluded, “that people in England, living on an island, are very closed.” On the other hand, she was impressed by the spirit of democracy she saw in Parliament and everyday life. “I wish we had that, too,” she wrote wistfully. “Will Germany and Italy ever be capable of democracy?”15


To the Nazis, destroying and humiliating families like the Stauffenbergs and von Hassells was an integral part of their policy of ridding Germany of a reactionary elite that stood in the way of social revolution. “Hitler’s speeches are all . . . spiced with sharp attacks on the entire upper class,” Ulrich von Hassell had once noted in his diary. “Scum” was the word chosen by Hitler.16 And Himmler vowed to exterminate all the Stauffenbergs after the bomb plot.


Now, only their role as hostages was keeping them alive.


The Sippenhafte joined hundreds of thousands of political and other prisoners of the Reich being shuffled endlessly and apparently arbitrarily around a vast closed system of camps. “Dangerous” prisoners who could not be moved were systematically murdered, often just hours or days before allied troops arrived. The Gestapo drew no distinction between Germans or foreigners, and often the victims’ crime was no worse than having listened to allied broadcasts.


The rest were continually evacuated in a vain and desperate effort to cover up Nazi crimes–and as a savage act of nihilistic revenge. “If National Socialism is going to be destroyed,” Himmler told his doctor in March 1945, “then her enemies and the criminals in the concentration camps shall not have the satisfaction of emerging from our ruins as triumphant conquerors. They shall share in our downfall.”17 Although he quickly backtracked, it was by then far too late to prevent local SS leaders from making lethal decisions on the spot.


In any case, the evacuations almost all became death marches. Even the fittest prisoners had been weakened before they began, and there was little food, poor clothing and no shelter. A low estimate of those who died en route is a quarter of a million. “The marchers, many barefoot in deep snow, were herded about by guards who no longer received orders,” writes one historian, “and who shot the exhausted. They also machine-gunned people into the sea, or burned thousands of people in barns, while sometimes taking the most arduous routes so that their captives would die.”18


Thus, in its end, the Third Reich revealed its true contempt for humanity. Only Himmler’s desperate desire to save his own skin and strike a deal with the allies was keeping even the Sippenhafte alive. Before Dachau, they first spent two months in Stutthof, a notorious camp outside Danzig (now Gdansk in Poland). Although Fey and the others were nominally privileged and so were housed in special barracks apart from the main body of the camp, they still endured terrible conditions. Stutthof was mostly packed with Poles and Russians and was equipped with a gas chamber that housed one hundred and fifty people at a time.


Fey was not subjected to that, but she did suffer severe malnutrition and cold, and was lucky not to succumb to a deadly typhoid epidemic that swept through the camp. She began to think she might not survive to the end of the war, or see her children again. Alex entered her room each morning and afternoon, bringing wood for the fire. She had done the same for him several weeks before. Exhibiting the proverbial professorial lack of practicality, he had almost cut off his toes while chopping wood and she had visited him frequently during his convalescence. He had shown her some of his poems, which she thought “were simple, in beautiful German, and full of feeling. Even in his weakened state, Alex was becoming more and more a magnet for my wounded emotions.”19


It was at Stutthof, too, that Alex wrote his first poem to her. “Will you walk with me a little/With me in sorrow and darkness?” it began. Thereafter, through all their misery, they drew even closer together.


The only other comfort came in knowing that Hitler was losing the war. By January 1945, Fey could hear the noise of approaching Russian artillery to the east. But this proved a mixed blessing. The Sippenhafte were too valuable to fall into Russian hands, and soon they were heading west. Shipped out of Danzig in below-freezing weather in a cattle truck, several days later they arrived at Buchenwald.


The Ettersberg is a small, thickly wooded hill rising to about 2,500 feet eight miles north of the city of Weimar, the capital of Thuringia. Here, in the eighteenth century, Goethe sought quiet refuge in long, solitary walks among the trees and flowers. Shortly after Hitler came to power, the Nazis chose the Ettersberg as the headquarters of their crack “Death’s Head” division of the SS and built a huge concrete barracks for its troops, along with luxurious, half-timbered villas for its officers. Then, in 1937, they began construction of a concentration camp. They called it Buchenwald, or “Beech Forest,” so as not to offend the local authorities, who were eager not to be associated with it. Goethe, after all, was being idealized as “the embodiment of the German spirit.”


The first prisoners to arrive came as transfers from the Sachsenhausen concentration camp close to Berlin. Mostly they were members of the German resistance, Jehovah’s Witnesses, criminals and homosexuals, and they were put to work clearing the forest, laying sewerage pipes, building roads and constructing accommodation for the thousands of inmates destined to follow them. Buchenwald quickly acquired the reputation of being the worst camp in Germany.


After the outbreak of war, like Dachau, it also became a camp for foreigners, and the death toll began to mount. A crematorium was built, lethal injections began to take place, and forced labor in nearby quarries and factories led to hundreds of deaths. In the former stables of the original SS barracks, a special shooting facility was set up where some eight thousand Russian prisoners of war were murdered with a shot through the neck.


Here, too, grotesque medical experiments were carried out on live prisoners, including tests using typhus in which dozens died. In 1943, a large armaments factory was built adjacent to the camp, with the inmates used for labor. There were also several sub-camps, including “Dora,” an underground factory at Nordhausen which used forced labor to build V2 rockets, jet aircraft and other advanced Nazi weapons.


By April 1945, Buchenwald was the largest remaining concentration camp in the Nazi system, with 112,000 prisoners, including 25,000 women, housed in the main and sub-camps. A third were Jews, and nearly all had been shipped to Buchenwald in 1944 from camps further east that were being overrun by Stalin’s Red Army. The numbers of dying were increasing by the day. In all, some quarter of a million prisoners were incarcerated here by the Nazis, and almost sixty thousand died.


Fey described it as a “small city of tarmac streets,” and she and the other Sippenhafte were housed in an isolated barracks surrounded by a red-brick wall covered in barbed wire. The group was joined by more relatives of the conspirators, and it was from one of these newcomers that Fey heard the news she had long been dreading.


Despite everything, including the cruel taunts from the SS, she had kept alive the hope that her father might still be alive. But from one of her mother’s closest friends, Maria von Hammerstein, the widow of the former Reichswehr chief of staff Kurt von Hammerstein, she heard for the first time the full details of her father’s trial before the notorious People’s Court in Berlin. He had defended himself brilliantly and won the admiration of many of those who heard him, but the verdict was predictable. Just two hours after being found guilty, he had been taken out and hanged in the Ploetzensee Prison. At last, Fey let the tears flow freely for the father she would never see again.


Two weeks after her arrival, the camp’s routine misery was shattered. In the morning, a two-seater Fieseler Storch–the plane used by the Luftwaffe for low-level reconnaissance–circled over Buchenwald several times before landing in a nearby field. Fey and the others rushed out to wave because they suspected they knew who the pilot was. And they were right: it was Alex’s wife, Melitta.


Her tale was amazing, even surreal. First, she was ethnically Jewish, her father having come from a middle-class family in Leipzig that had converted to Lutheranism, a fact that to the Nazis would normally have been irrelevant in her designation as racially impure and unfit. She had qualified as an engineer, earned her pilot’s license, and in the late 1920s started test-flying aircraft. Since 1937, the year she had married Alex in Berlin, she had test-flown over two thousand missions in Junkers dive-bombers for the Luftwaffe. Only one other pilot, a man, had surpassed her record. In 1943, she was awarded the Iron Cross Second Class along with the Gold Pilot’s Badge with Diamonds, and she had recently also been nominated for the Iron Cross Class I.


This vital war work saved her from deportation and the death camps. She had been briefly arrested after the bomb plot, but was released to continue her test-flying. Since then, she had exploited her privileges once before, to visit Alex and bring him and the other prisoners food while they were at Stutthof, providing the group’s sole link with the outside world. She had also traced some of the Stauffenberg children, who were being kept in a different camp, and had delighted them with Christmas gifts of medals since she could not find any toys in the shops. “We loved them,” remembered one of the children, “she was very exciting. She told the most wonderful stories of flying and her planes.”20


Only Alex was allowed to go over and talk with Litta after she landed outside Buchenwald. When he returned, the others surrounded him for news. It turned out that Litta had completely lost track of them since Stutthof. The Gestapo had told her that the Sippenhafte were probably now in Russian hands. Unwilling to believe this, she had tried Buchenwald on a hunch.


Fey naturally assumed that her family might think that she was now a prisoner of the Soviets, a thought that profoundly upset her. So she was vastly relieved a few days later when several letters arrived for her. In one, her mother told her about recent heavy air raids on Munich: “Of the Munich we used to know,” she lamented, “there is practically nothing left.”


To distract herself, she started giving lessons in elementary mathematics and languages to a ten-year-old boy imprisoned in the camp with his mother. But this brought to mind the possible fate of her own children. Were the boys better off in a home, even one run by the SS? Or would they, like this one, have been happier with her in a camp, even one as wretched as Buchenwald?


A month after her arrival she heard the familiar thunder of artillery in the distance, and again the order was barked out to pack a bag and be ready to move. Buses arrived, they were crammed in tightly, and off they went into the night, their destination unknown. Accompanying them were two SS officers. One, Obersturmführer Ernst Bader, was a cold, blue-eyed type known to have worked with execution units. The other, Untersturmführer Edgar Stiller, seemed a bit more human. Their fate now rested in the hands of these two men.


On Tuesday 17 April, just before noon, they arrived outside the big stone gateway of Dachau. But thanks to the Nazis’ obsessive paperwork, entering a concentration camp could be almost as difficult as leaving one. The small convoy of buses stood for hours at the entrance while the bureaucrats within wrestled with the files. It was hot, there was no food or water, and despite a rising chorus of desperate pleading no one was even allowed to go to the toilet. In the end, the prisoner sitting next to Fey simply wet the floor. She had become used to such scenes on their journeys, and had long ago abandoned any shame or modesty about bodily functions. The group, men and women alike, were used to sharing a pail hidden behind a rough cloth sheet in the corner of whatever room they inhabited.


Only towards nine in the evening did the buses start up their engines and roll through the gate. Once more, the Sippenhafte were segregated from the main body of inmates, and were placed in a large barracks next to the SS hospital. To Fey’s immense relief, there was the luxury of hot water. At last, she could thoroughly clean herself and wash her filthy, stinking clothes. There was plenty of hot food as well, brought to them by Russian and Polish prisoners.


The main anxiety now was allied bombing. For months, Munich had been under constant attack, and Dachau itself was also a target. Fey found herself having to run to the air-raid shelter as bombs rained down. The fear she felt brought her barely suppressed worries about her children bursting to the surface. Cities throughout Germany were now in flames. Where were her children? Were they safe? Would she survive, only to find that Corrado and Roberto had been killed? She felt an overwhelming desire to escape and find them, but she knew that this was a futile hope, so she ended up feeling even more trapped and helpless than before.


Sunk in these gloomy thoughts, she spotted one of the female warders from Buchenwald walking towards the SS hospital. The woman’s uniform was torn and crumpled, and she looked haggard and exhausted, a far cry from the spruce martinet who had enjoyed lording it over them before. But she was ready to reveal a piece of heart-warming news: she had been transferred just a few days earlier, and Buchenwald was now in the hands of the Americans


On Sunday 8 April, the headquarters of George C. Patton’s Third US Army had picked up a radio signal. “To the Allies. To the Army of General Patton,” it said. “Concentration Camp Buchenwald calls! SOS. We ask for help. They are going to evacuate us. The SS will exterminate us.” The message came from a wireless secretly built in the camp and was transmitted by the prisoners’ underground committee. The US radio operators promised them that help was on the way.


Three days later, a tank column belonging to Patton’s Third Army was racing down a road at twenty-five miles an hour when, close to Weimar, it encountered an amazing sight. Several hundred former concentration camp inmates wearing tattered rags were marching eastwards. And they were armed. They told the startled Americans that they had come from Buchenwald. Shortly before, they explained, they had disarmed the SS guards, who had fled. Now they were hoping to catch up with them.


Instead, the Americans suggested they return to the camp and sent two of Patton’s officers along with them. When they arrived, a white flag was flying triumphantly from the main watchtower. All the remaining SS guards had fled at noon, leaving the camp in the hands of the communist-led underground prisoners’ organization. They had run it since 1942, and had acted as trustees to dole out food, assign prisoners to work details, hand out drugs and ration hospital beds. A far less powerful, non-communist organization had been created in 1944. To some extent the two groups cooperated, although each remained deeply suspicious of the other.


Like Dachau, the Buchenwald SS leadership had received orders from Himmler to evacuate the prisoners before the allies reached it. In the four days before Patton’s men arrived, some twenty-five thousand had been marched out of the main camp, including nearly all of the Jews. Only a handful had survived.


The Americans found twenty-one thousand prisoners packed into the camp. Many were hovering on the edge of death, suffering from starvation, tuberculosis, dysentery and typhoid. It was not the first of the camps to be liberated by the allies, but it was the largest and the worst yet.


The world’s press descended almost immediately. In its vanguard came Edward R. Murrow, the chief European correspondent of the Columbia Broadcasting System. He had made his name reporting live on the London Blitz, using his famous opening and closing catchphrases: “This is London,” and “Good night, and good luck.” He had also flown on bombing raids over Europe, making vivid recordings of what he saw, and had assembled an impressive news staff to bring the realities of war to Americans back home.


For the previous week he had been driving hard through Germany, following Patton’s forces from Frankfurt to Weimar and beyond. The Germans appeared well clothed, he reported, and in a healthier state than any civilians he had seen anywhere else in Europe. Old men and women were working in the fields, although cows, not horses, were pulling the plows; the horses had been sent to the Eastern Front or Normandy as transport for the Wehrmacht. “But this is no time to talk of the surface of Germany,” he abruptly said. “I propose to tell you of Buchenwald.” He did so, in the first person, sharing what he had seen when he walked through the gates. He pulled no punches. He talked of people who died at his feet, of children of six with numbers tattooed on their arms, of skeletal people from Vienna, Paris and Prague. Some claimed to have met him when he was a prewar correspondent, but he failed to recognize them. Then he was taken by a Czech doctor to a small courtyard:


It was floored with concrete. There were two rows of bodies stacked up like cordwood. They were thin and very white. Some of the bodies were terribly bruised though there seemed little flesh to bruise. Some had been shot through the head. But they bled very little. All except two were naked. I tried to count them as best I could, and arrived at the conclusion that all that was mortal of more than 500 men and boys lay there in two neat piles.


I pray you to believe what I have said about Buchenwald. I have reported what I saw and heard, but only part of it. For most of it, I have no words. Dead men are plentiful in war–but the living dead, more than 20,000 in one camp! And the country around was pleasing to the eye, and the Germans were well fed and well dressed.21


The first British correspondent to arrive at Buchenwald was a short, stocky, dark-haired Englishman in his late thirties. His name was Robert Reid, and he was one of the eight British correspondents traveling with Patton’s army. He worked for the British Broadcasting Corporation and was filing regular dispatches for its daily War Report, which was aired every evening after the nine o’clock radio news. A friendly figure with an infectious cackle of a laugh, he was known to all his colleagues as Bob.


Despite the insignia of a lieutenant-colonel he wore on his sleeve, Reid at first glance seemed the least likely of war correspondents. Until recently he had been based in Bradford and Manchester, where he specialized in gritty human-interest stories about life and times in the industrial north, much in the fashion of the famous writer and broadcaster J.B. Priestley. The two men had attended the same school in Bradford and spoke on similar themes with almost identical Yorkshire accents–so much so that one of Reid’s colleagues later described him as “a pocket Priestley.” With his neat dark suit, well-brushed bowler hat and furled umbrella, Reid had been a familiar figure in the newsrooms of northern England. It was hard to imagine him in uniform reporting from the front line.


But he was good at his job and had the born reporter’s nose for truffling out the big story. “He never left a job unfinished no matter how late he stayed,” said one admiring colleague, “he never looked at a clock.” Ink ran in his veins, for both his great-grandfather and his grandmother had worked as journalists in their native Scotland, and his brother was opera critic for Punch magazine. “My job,” Reid wrote, “is to do what journalism has taught me–to worry the basic facts out of the heat of any problem and give them a man-in-the-street interpretation.”22 Yet, apart from a brief spell reporting from France during its dramatic collapse in the spring of 1940, Reid had done no war reporting at all.


Then, just before D-Day, he had joined the special broadcasting team created by the BBC to follow the allied armies through France and the Low Countries into Germany. Its correspondents were “embedded” with the forces and had their own small censorship unit, which meant that sensitive issues could be discussed freely and quickly. Eventually, Reid got to know by instinct what he could and could not report on air. And anyway, he had little interest in tactical or strategic problems, preferring to focus on the experiences of the ordinary soldiers. Good morale on the home front was vital for the war effort, and here Reid’s background stood him in excellent stead: he knew how to report on what was happening to the fathers, sons and brothers of his audience back home.


Ironically, though, what had first made him a household name was a dramatic episode that involved no allied forces at all. It occurred in Paris on Saturday, 26 August 1944, the day that the Free French leader General Charles de Gaulle went to Notre Dame Cathedral for the official Service of Thanksgiving for the liberation of France. The city had been liberated just two days before. More than a million Parisians lined the route from the Arc de Triomphe to the Place de la Concorde as the general walked slowly past, occasionally raising his arm to acknowledge the cheers.


Reid was waiting in the square outside the cathedral. The day before, he had driven into the city from Rambouillet with a BBC colleague. They had been warned to look out for snipers: there were plenty still around, they were told, and they should expect to be fired on from windows or roofs. He had heard the crack of a rifle just the once during the journey, but the bullet had missed them.


He stood ready with his microphone in his hand. Through the open doors of the cathedral he could see a mass of faces turned expectantly towards the entrance. The roar of the vast crowd packing the square swelled to a climax as de Gaulle arrived and was greeted by the waiting group of church dignitaries.


Suddenly, though, a shot rang out, followed by a fusillade of fire. The crowd behind Reid made a sudden rush for the doors. He began to speak into the microphone to record what was happening, but was swept forward and fell to the ground. The microphone and its cable parted company. Reid scrambled back onto his feet and, still gripping the mic, accompanied de Gaulle into the cathedral. The general seemed unperturbed, and had his hands raised, as if to calm everyone around him.


Then came a burst of firing from inside the cathedral. Snipers were hidden high in the galleries beneath the roof. People flung themselves to the floor, or hid behind stone pillars. Gendarmes and soldiers ran inside and exchanged shots with the snipers, lighting up the gloomy interior with brilliant flashes of automatic fire. Amid the din, Reid heard the congregation start to sing the Te Deum.


When the service was over, he slipped out of a side door to see what was happening outside. Sporadic firing and sniping was still going on. His recording trailer was parked outside and the engineer had remained at his controls until Reid’s microphone had gone dead. The disk on the turntable was covered with dust and chips of broken masonry from the bullets. Reid and the engineer reconnected the microphone, and he sat down and recorded what he had just seen in the church. Even as he was talking, a nearby door opened and a line of gendarmes marched out with four captured snipers. They were, Reid told his listeners, a “raffish-looking” lot.


Although he had no idea of what had made it onto the disk, or indeed any clear recollection of what he had said amid all the confusion, he made sure the recording was rushed to London by air courier. The next night, when he tuned in to the BBC, he heard his broadcast, including the sound of bullets whizzing past his ear. It was one of the most dramatic reports ever aired during the war, “one of the biggest broadcasts, I think, of all time,” according to the manager of the War Reporting Unit. In an unprecedented move, it was rebroadcast throughout the USA by both NBC and CBS.23


Since then, though, Reid’s stories had mostly been about the men advancing into Germany. He was as interested in the engineers building roads and bridges, and the wire men stringing out cables to aid communication, as he was in the front-line troops. Not long before, when Patton’s men had overrun a prisoner-of-war camp packed with British soldiers who had survived a forty-day forced march, he had moved from man to man, recording their stories for their families back home. Always, as he interviewed ordinary men doing their jobs, enduring or suffering in the extraordinary setting of war, he bore in mind that his audience back home needed their morale boosted, too.


He entered Buchenwald the day after its liberation. Even hard-boiled cynics were weeping at what they saw. Reid, a family man to the core, found it almost too much to bear. He was already exhausted, he had been away from home for almost a year, and he was missing his family badly. Like the soldiers whose stories he was telling to the world, he waited eagerly, sometimes desperately, for letters from home, and even at the end of a long and tiring day he sat down at his typewriter to write a reply. His daily life was one of constant movement and improvisation. He rarely knew in the morning where he would spend the night. Sharing an evening meal with the other correspondents was the closest he came to any semblance of family life.


For months he had been fed up, and ready to go home. “When I think about the future I feel more and more to have a great desire to get out with you and the children in the country,” he had told Vera, his wife, back in February, “and I keep on planning imaginary holidays in Wensleydale with our paint boxes.”24


The night before he journeyed to Buchenwald, he had received three welcome long letters from Vera. But they made him more homesick than ever. Somehow, the fact that it was spring, that the countryside was greening, and that blossom was flowering on the trees made the separation even harder to bear. “I have been thinking all the more longingly of home this last few days,” he wrote that night. “I keep sighing and thinking of you and the children and how it would be to be just setting off with you for that favorite walk of mine.” He signed off, as he always did, “Love, Rob,” and scrawled twelve kisses at the bottom of the page.


Reid’s family life was as plain and straightforward as the prose he wrote and the words he spoke. He and Vera lived in a rented house in Bramhall outside Stockport on the fringes of Manchester, and they had two small children: Elizabeth, ten, and Richard, eight. Vera packed her letters with the details of her daily suburban life. She also methodically numbered them. Sometimes, traveling through the vagaries of the military mailing system on a rapidly moving front, they arrived out of sequence. This could be confusing, which made her anxious, hence the numbering. She told him about shopping trips to Manchester, the state of the weather, the plumbers repairing a leaking pipe in the scullery, the steam iron that had been giving her trouble, the sewing she did every night to make or mend clothes, the neighbors and relatives, even the hens she fed in the back garden whose eggs she treasured, keeping a record of their production in a small book. She always reported whenever she had heard his voice on the radio. Since his broadcast from Paris, he had become a local celebrity, and even if she missed a broadcast her friends quickly told her about it. Above all, however, she told him about the children.


In Bramhall, as in Berlin, Lüneberg, Italy and Weimar, Friday 20 April was a sunny day, although in the evening there were a couple of showers of rain. After she had pulled the curtains and put the children to bed, Vera sat down to write Bob letter number 55. The big news was about Elizabeth and Richard. Their daughter had walked in proudly from school bursting with the news that she had been made a prefect. It had been announced that morning in front of the whole school at morning assembly immediately after prayers, and the headmistress had pinned the navy-blue badge with a big gold “P” onto her dress. Vera, delighted for her daughter, had rewarded her with a ball of wool so she could knit herself some gloves.


It was also a red-letter day for Richard. He was growing taller, and today, for the first time, he had managed to ride his bike while sitting on the saddle instead of standing on the pedals. He had also learned how to get on and off it “in the boy’s way,” as Vera put it, by putting one leg on the pedal and swinging the other over the seat. He had spent the whole afternoon after school practicing this trick in the street, and Vera had even seen him confidently speeding along with his feet off the pedals. It was time to get the brakes checked, she thought. Then she would allow him to go slightly further afield.


She finished the letter, as usual, by urging her husband to take care. “I wish it would finish soon,” she wrote, meaning the war. “But somehow,” she added, “the nearer one thinks the end is, yet the further it seems away.” She signed it, “All our love, Vera,” and she too added twelve small kisses. It was almost as an afterthought that she included a sentence saying she had heard him on the BBC that afternoon talking about Buchenwald.25


The contrast with the horrors of Buchenwald might have made the details of daily life in Bramhall seem petty and trivial, but to Reid, the vivid picture drawn by Vera of his children at home had the opposite effect. It made him appreciate his family even more, and in doing so lent his reporting on the camp special poignancy. “Don’t you think you bore me,” he assured her the next time he wrote. “All this sort of thing is the breath of life for me darling. It brings home right here to me and I can forget what’s going on all around.”


He filed several reports on the camp, with the most moving and terrible about a group of children. In one of the wooden huts the Americans had found nine hundred children between the ages of two and fourteen. Their fathers had been prisoners who had long since died or been murdered. Most were Polish Jews, and they were being looked after by the older prisoners. Reid described them as “pathetic, ragged waifs, looking like little old men with yellow faces and shrunken cheeks.” One of them, a fourteen-year-old boy with a shaven head, revealed that the camp doctor used to hold medical parades. He would divide them into groups, and then the sickest would be marched off in the direction of the camp crematorium, never to be seen again.


Another Jewish child in Buchenwald was the sixteen-year-old Elie Wiesel. Transported with his family from their village in Transylvania, he had last seen his mother and sister being directed towards the gas chambers at Auschwitz, before he himself was shipped to Buchenwald with his father that January. Here he had watched helplessly while his father, racked by dysentery and denied any medical help, died before his eyes. Once his father was beaten by fellow prisoners who were sick of him defecating in his bunk. “Don’t forget you’re in a concentration camp” was the advice the block leader gave Elie when he asked for help for his father. “Here every man has to fight for himself and not think of anyone else. Here,” he added grimly, “there are no fathers, no brothers, no friends. Everyone lives and dies for himself.”


One night, an SS guard hit his father over the head after he cried out for water. “I did not move,” Wiesel later wrote. “I was afraid . . . Then my father made a rattling noise and it was my name, ‘Eliezer.’ I could see that he was still breathing spasmodically. I did not move.” The next morning, Elie awoke at dawn. In his father’s bunk lay another prisoner. His father had been taken away in the night to the crematorium. “There were no prayers at his grave,” lamented Elie, “no candles were lit to his memory. His last word was my name. A summons, to which I did not reply.”26


Elie himself was lucky to survive. As the Americans approached, the SS decided to evacuate the children and herded them onto the camp’s central square. But that was when the underground resistance decided to act. “Armed men appeared everywhere,” recorded Wiesel. “Burst of gunshots. Grenades exploding. We, the children, remained flat on the floor . . . The battle did not last long and around noon, everything was calm again.” The SS fled, and by the time the Americans arrived the resistance was in control.27


Bob Reid learned more about the camp from another group of prisoners he met. About forty captured British secret agents had been sent there by the SS. Only four were still alive by the time Reid arrived. One was a twenty-year-old Englishman named Christopher Burney. As a bored junior commando officer, he had written a paper about how to liberate France from within. Then, at a cocktail party a few weeks later, his brigadier beckoned him over. “Ever jumped out of a plane, old boy?” he asked. “I’ve a feeling you’re going to.” Not long afterwards Burney was being dropped near Le Mans to join a Special Operations Executive (SOE) network. Unfortunately, though, it had just been arrested en masse, and Burney was quickly picked up by the Gestapo.


“They stuck to boots and fists,” he said, “taking care to keep me conscious.” But he told them nothing. The following eighteen months were spent in solitary confinement in Fresnes Prison outside Paris. Then he was sent to Buchenwald. The journey was torture. A hundred men, all stripped naked, were pushed into a truck designed for forty. It took them four days, with only one small can of blackish water to drink, to reach their destination. “Half the men in my truck were mad,” Burney recalled.


After that, he fought to keep himself alive. One of the worst features of Buchenwald, he found, was the control exercised over other prisoners by the communists in the camp, nearly all of whom were German. “They had absolute disciplinary powers over their fellow prisoners,” he wrote, “backed by the SS and the threat of the crematorium behind them. Anybody who savored of a capitalist or an intellectual was promptly marked down as a victim.” Indeed, just ten days before the Americans liberated the camp, the German communists had passed a resolution declaring, “It is in the highest degree regrettable that the Anglo-American capitalists should liberate us. We will do all in our power, even under them, to retain the position which we have always held.”28


In response to this, Burney had busied himself organizing the camp’s non-communist resistance cell. This saved his life. In the final days before liberation, word leaked out that the SS was eager to kill the British officers. This was all too believable: only two weeks before, Burney’s best friend, another secret agent captured in France, had been taken to the crematorium and hanged. Acting immediately, the new resistance group hid Burney and the others in a secret underground cellar until the danger passed.


Two of the other SOE agents were brothers. Henry and Alfred Newton had been an acrobatic act based in Paris when the war broke out. Subsequently, all their relatives–wives, children, parents–had perished in a torpedoed ship, which had prompted them to join SOE. Nine months after being parachuted back into France, they had been arrested and badly tortured. One day in Buchenwald Alfred saw Henry being carried past on a stretcher: “He managed to give a sign that he had recognized me,” said his brother.


The fourth surviving agent, Maurice Southgate, had run a highly successful network in France before falling into a Gestapo trap just six weeks before D-Day following the arrest of his radio operator. Along with the captured wireless set was a file of messages relating to the allied landings. Despite being severely tortured, Southgate held out long enough for the information he had to be useless. He had spent nine months in Buchenwald before Reid arrived. Helplessly and fatalistically, he watched as, one by one, other SOE agents were taken away for execution. This was carried out in a particularly brutal manner, he explained. A butcher’s hook was placed under their chins before the trap beneath their feet was sprung. From the execution chamber below ground, their bodies were then speedily lifted to the crematorium.


Reid uncovered other stories of heroism during his time at Buchenwald. Nearby, in a small hospital, he came across a group of young Polish women who had fought as combat troops during the Warsaw uprising of the previous August. Miraculously, the Germans had treated them as prisoners of war rather than as terrorists to be shot. They ranged from fourteen to sixty years old. Altogether, some seven thousand women had been captured. Microphone in hand, Reid broadcast an interview with one of them.


“What part did the women play in that fight?” he asked. Some were in assault groups, the woman replied; others served in the General Staff of the Polish Home Army. They also acted as observers, front-line fighters and couriers.


“What about the courier girls?” he inquired. One of them was only fifteen, answered the woman. She had been a Girl Guide before the war. “She had to go through the canals [sewers],” she continued in her imperfect English, “and as she was little it was easier for her to do that than for a big man or a more higher woman [sic].” The Germans had thrown gas and grenades into the sewers, she went on, and for her courage the girl had been awarded the Polish Military Cross.


Reid was fascinated. The Warsaw uprising was a big story and this was the first opportunity he had had to talk to anyone involved. “How did the Germans treat the people of Warsaw?” he asked.


“Just like wild beasts,” came the answer. “We were arrested in streets; arrested in trams; arrested in houses. Nobody knew in the morning if he would live in the evening.”


From another woman, Reid learned that even though they had been classified as prisoners of war, the women had suffered severe privations. Thousands of them had been marched out of Warsaw and kept for days without food. “If you could get a piece of dog, meat of a dog,” she told him, “you were lucky.” Then they were taken to Silesia in cattle trucks and locked in them for three days. “They didn’t allow the people to care and give us food and even water,” she said. “And they used to shoot the Poles or other people who wanted to bring us food.”


Most of the women Reid saw had lost teeth through vitamin deficiency and were thin and haggard, but they had taken care to keep themselves as clean as they could, washing themselves and their clothes constantly to ward off disease.


They had been freed just ten days before. The exact second was etched on at least one of the women’s memory: “We are mad with happiness,” she told Reid. “We have been freed on 11th April, ten minutes to four. We remember that very well,” she added, “when we saw for the first time an American car, and American soldiers.”


“How did you receive them?” asked Reid.


“We were shouting and singing and crying with joy, and they were awfully nice to us. They let [sic] us some chocolate and cigarettes.”


“No lipstick or powder?”


“No,” she answered sternly. “We are not allowed to use that if we are soldiers. Although,” she added conspiratorially, “some of us, I think–I will tell you that in secret–dream about it!”


It was a light-hearted moment in what had otherwise been a horrific and depressing few days. When he moved on for his next story, Bob Reid was heartily glad to put Buchenwald behind him.29


But at least he had been able to do one good turn that made him feel better.


The four British SOE agents spent the first night of their liberation sleeping in a comfortable bungalow that had belonged to one of the camp’s SS officers and his family and had been commandeered by one of the Americans.


The next day, a British major in well-pressed battle dress rolled up to the camp in a jeep. “Get us away from this hell-hole,” said Alfred Newton, delighted to see an officer in British uniform, and all too aware that their lives might still be in some danger from the communists still at large in the camp. But his hopes were crushed. They would have to wait until the proper repatriation authorities arrived, the officer told them. He could do nothing to help except make a report when he got back to his headquarters. Then he jumped into his jeep and drove away. He hadn’t even offered them a cigarette.


By this time, Reid had finished his interviews and was chatting with Burney. His jeep with his recording trailer emblazoned with “BBC Recording Unit” was parked by the main gate, and the two of them strolled towards it slowly together. As they got close, Reid offered Burney a lift. “Thanks for the offer, old boy,” replied the SOE man, “but there are three other officers with me, and I couldn’t dream of leaving without them.” Then he introduced Reid to the others.


By this time Reid had noticed the inscription above the gate: “Recht oder unrecht Mein Vaterland.” “Right or wrong my country,” translated Reid in his broad Yorkshire accent. He turned to business: “What the hell are we waiting for? Come on, lads! Pile in. If I don’t get you away from here, my name’s not Bob.”


Burney, Southgate and Alfred Newton packed themselves into the jeep, while Henry Newton settled down in the trailer among the recording equipment. As they left, a GI thrust some K rations into their hands.


It was dusk when they reached Third Army headquarters in Gotha. Here Reid dropped off the four men at the guardroom, then put out his hand and gave them a broad smile. “Right or wrong, my country! Nay, I’m not likely to forget that one . . . Well, lads, Ah must go now. Look me up some time. ‘BBC Manchester’ will always find me. Cheerio!”30
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